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PREFACE

Professor Hoskins has written in the facsimile original
edition of The Antiquities and Memoirs of Myddle:

“Gough’s History of Myddle . . . sounds like the nar-
rowest kind of parish-pump history one could possibly
imagine, of interest only to devoted local historians in
Shropshire. It is in fact a unique book. It gives us a pic-
ture of seventeenth-century England in all its wonderful
and varied detail such as no other book that I know even
remotely approaches. If History is, as has once been said,
the men and women of the past talking and we over-
hearing their conversations, then Gough’s history of his
native parish, written between the years 1700 and 1706,
is History . . . A whole countryside, an entire society,
comes alive in our minds, in a way that no historian,
however skilled, can possibly evoke . . . this remarkable
book is . . . one of the most entertaining books ever
written in English, unique in our literature.”!

Given the outstanding quality of Gough’s work, why is the
book not more widely known amongst historians and the
general public? The answer lies probably in the nature of the
original edition — not only is some of its content anti-
quarian in nature, but so is much of its style and lay-out.
The aim of the present edition is to eliminate material of
purely antiquarian interest, and to re-arrange presentation
and style of the original —in particular spelling, which has
been modernised throughout — so as to make it much more
accessible to the modern reader. I have retained all bio-
graphical material, as it is the biographies which give the book
its central fascination. No alterations have been made to
Gough’s language, for that is a part of the delight of his writ-
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ing. Readers who wish to know more about the original are
fortunate in having it readily available in the facsimile edition.

In my introduction I have sought to bring out the quality
of Gough’s writing — particularly the stories and anecdotes
about his contemporaries — by quoting extensively from the
text. I have discussed the book from the point of view of the
social historian and historical sociologist, and have compiled
a detailed subject index, so that anyone who wishes to know
more about marriage, the family, the treatment of children.
disease, violence, drunkenness, religion, love and a host of
other topics in the seventeenth century, can turn to the index
at the back of the book. But its main importance is Gough’s
unique history of a seventeenth century village community,
bringing to life his contemporaries in such a vivid and enter-
taining fashion.
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INTRODUCTION

Myddle is in Shropshire near the Welsh/English border,
and had a population of about six hundred people at the end
of the seventeenth century. It was situated in a woodland area
and its economy was almost entirely agricultural, with a heavy
emphasis on cattle-rearing; most of its population were small
freeholders or tenant farmers, although by the time Gough
wrote his book nearly a third of the men of the village had
become labourers. Today Myddle is a* quiet, peaceful place,
a typical English country village. The idealisation of the
countryside has led many to see this peacefulness as the domi-
nant historical characteristic of village life, the title of one of
Flora Thompson’s books — Still Glides the Stream — perhaps
epitomising this feeling. The romantic treatment of the
English countryside has buttressed this image, and there is
much in current ideology which points to a harmonious and
serene traditional rural community, in order to condemn the
perceived violence and disintegration of modern urban life.
Gough’s writing completely shatters this picture of a rural
idyll, but in doing so, enriches our appreciation of the reality
of our social history in a uniquely instructive way. Here is
Gough on a sequence of events that occurred in Myddle and
its neighbourhood :

There was one Clarke, of Preston Gubballs, who had
formerly been tenant to Sir Edward Kinaston, of a tene-
ment in Welsh Hampton, and was indebted for arrears of
rent, due to Sir Edward; whereupon he sued out a writ
against this Clarke, and sent a bailiff to arrest him; and
because Clarke had some lusty young men to his sons,
therefore Sir Edward sent one of his servants to assist
the bailiff, if need were. Clarke was cutting peat on
Haremeare Mosse; Sir Edward’s man stayed in the wood
in Pimhill; the bailiff went towards Clarke, and being
beaten back by Clarke’s sons, Sir Edward’s man came
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with his sword drawn, and swore he would make hay
with them. But one of Clarke’s sons, with a turf spade,
which they call a peat iron (a very keen thing) struck
Sir Edward’s man on the head, and cloave out his brains.
The bailiff fled; Clarke was rescued; and his son fled, and
escaped. The coroner was sent for and by appointment of
Sir Humphry Lea, the inhabitants of Myddle paid the
coroner’s fees. Clarke’s son escaped the hand of justice,
but not the judgment of God, for he that spilled man’s
blood, by man shall his blood be spilt, for when all things
were quiet, and this thing seemed forgotten, Clarke’s son
came into this country again, and lived at Welsh
Hampton, where a quarrel happening- between him and
one Hopkin, his next neighbour, about their garden hay-
ment, as they stood quarrelling, each man in his own
garden, Hopkin cast a stone at Clarke, which struck him
so directly on the head, that it killed him. How Hopkin
escaped the law, I have not heard; but vengeance suffered
him not long to live, for a quarrel happened between him
and one Lyth, a neighbour of his, as they were in an ale-
house in Ellesmere, in the night-time, which quarrel
ended in words, and Hopkin went towards home; and not
long after Lyth went thence. The next morning Hopkin
was found dead in Oatley Park, having been knocked on
the head with the foot of a washing stock which stood
at Ellesmere meare, which foot was found not far from
him. Lyth was apprehended, and committed to prison on
suspicion of the murder ...

Three men were killed, two of the killers themselves being
murdered in turn. The first homicide occurred because of a
dispute over non-payment of rent, the second because of a
garden quarrel, and the third as a result of an alehouse brawl.
All the disputes were in themselves trivial, and what is remark-
able is that three such killings should be linked one to the
other in such a small community. These were not isolated
incidents however, as Gough mentions a total of ten homi-
cides in the course of his narrative, and although these did
not all occur in Myddle itself, it is inconceivable that such
a level of violence could occur in a modern rural community
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or an urban area of equivalent size. But before I go on to
discuss comparative homicide rates, I wish to illustrate the
nature and type of violence in this seventeenth century rural
area by further quoting from Gough’s narrative. The following
account of a murder of a young servant maid has tragic and
comic qualities, and reminds us that Gough was both a con-
temporary of Pepys and lived near, both in space and time,

to Shakespeare himself. The murderer’s name was Hugh
Elks, and

he was an ill man — for he, knowing that a neighbour of
his who lived in Eyton had a considerable sum of money
in the house, this Elks and some other of his companions
came to Eyton on the Lord’s day at time of morning ser-
vice, and having visors on their faces, they came into the
house and found there only one servant maid who was
making of a cheese, and this Elks stooping down to bind
her she saw under his visor, and said, “Good Uncle Elks,
do me no harm,” and upon that he pulled out his knife
and cut her throat. His companions being terrified at the
act fled away to Baschurch Church, and Elks seeing his
companions were gone fled likewise and took no money,
and for haste shut the door after him and left his dog in
the house, and came to Marton, but stayed not there, but
ran to Petton to church whither he came sweating
exceedingly a little before the end of service.

When people came from church to Eyton, they found
the girl dead, and Elks’ dog in the house almost bursting
with eating the cheese. They followed the dog, who
brought them to Elks’ house, and upon this, Elks was
apprehended on suspicion.

We will see later in this introduction that theft was common
in seventeenth century Myddle, although the above incident
seems to have happened in the sixteenth century. “Good
Uncle Elks” was presumably not a relative of the maid ser-
vant’s, but the term was an adopted one (made familiar by
anthropologists), i.e. was an expression of a particular kind of
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a close community relationship. This murder like the three
previously discussed was a crime of passion, enacted in the
heat of the moment out of spontaneous feelings of rage and
aggression. The people of Myddle were capable however of
much more deliberate, dispassionate and cold acts of murder,
as is shown by an anecdote of Gough’s about the attempt of
three Myddle wives to rid themselves of their husbands through
poisoning. A certain Thomas Hodden, husband of Elizabeth
Hodden

died, leaving his wife a young wanton widow, who soon
after married with one Onslow, a quiet, peaceable man;
but she soon grew into dislike of him, and was willing to
be shot of him. There were other women in Myddle, at
that time, that were weary of their husbands, and it was
reported that this woman and two more made an agree-
ment to poison their husbands all in one night; which
(as it is said) was attempted by them all; but Onslow
only died; the other two escaped very hardly. This wicked
act was soon blazed abroad and Elizabeth Onslow fled
into Wales, to her father’s relations; but being pursued,
she was found upon a holiday, dancing on the top of a
hill amongst a company of young people.

In spite of this being a description of a murder, the reader
cannot but be fascinated by the account of Elizabeth Onslow
“dancing on the top of a hill amongst a company of young
people” when apprehended. So even here where the quality
of deliberateness is to be found, the spontaneity of her reactions
in the aftermath has a very seventeenth century ring.

There was only one other murder of the total of ten that
could be described as cold-blooded, and this involved another
member of the Elks family.

There was one Thomas Elks, of Knockin, who had an
elder brother, who married and had one son, and soon
after died and his wife also, and left the child very young.
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The grandmother was guardian to the child. This grand-
mother was mother unto Thomas Elks, and was SO
indulgent of him, that she loved him best of any of her
children; and by supplying him with money to feed his
extravagances, she undid him. But when she was gone
poor, and could not supply him, he considered that this
child stood in his way between him and the estate, and
therefore contrived to remove him: and to that end he
hired a poor boy, of Knockin, to entice the child into the
corn fields to gather flowers. The corn was then at
highest. Thomas Elks met the two children in the fields;
sent the poor boy home, and took the child in his arms
into the lower end of the field where he had provided a
pail of water, and putting the child’s head into the pail
of water he stifled him to death, and left him in the corn.

But much more typical of homicide in Myddle was the follow-
ing incident. A young maid was a

servant to a gentleman who lived near Wellington, and
as this young woman was holding water for her master
to wash his hands in the kitchen, he cast a little water
from off his finger into her face, which her mistress (who
was present), seeing, and conceiving it too familiar an
action, she in a rage took up the cleaver, and gave her
such a blow on the head that she died.

This was the only other murder committed by a woman in
Gough’s account; like today, most murder and physical vio-
lence was committed by men. But the homicide rate was much
higher for both men and women in the seventeenth century than
it is today. It is impossible to calculate the rate for seventeenth
century Myddle with any precision, as Gough does not always
tell us when murders took place, and whether all the victims
were living in Myddle at the time. According to recently
published work, the homicide rate in thirteenth century Eng-
land was in the range of 9 - 47 annual homicides per 100,000
population,2 while other research indicates a rate for the
sixteenth/seventeenth century period of 5-18 per 100,000.3
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The rate for Myddle appears to have been as high as that
found for the thirteenth century, but whatever the precise levels
of homicide, it is clear that they were very much higher in all
these periods than they are today. The homicide rate in Great
Britain during the period 1930 - 59 was 0.4 per 100,000, and
there has been little change in recent years.# Thus homicide
in pre-industrial England — the thirteenth to the seventeenth
century — was at least ten times as great as it is today, and
may have even been a hundred times at particular periods.
Certainly the number of violent murders described by Gough
for his small rural community confirms the findings of research
based on more statistical techniques.

Violence did not of course always result in death, and
Gough describes a number of aggressive incidents of a non-
fatal kind. He often mentions them in passing as if they were
fairly commonplace, and almost murderous attacks were
treated as if they were merely everyday incidents. An example
of this occurred when Robert Morrall met his father-in-law
William Tyler:

Old William Tyler was his utter enemy, and often
threatened to be his death, but Morrall was too hard for
him. They met accidentally at a stile in Houlston, and
discoursing friendly, they sat down on each side of the
stile; but Tyler having a halter in his hand, cast it about
Morrall’s neck and drew him over the stile, and was likely
to have hanged him: but Morrall by his strength and
agility freed himself, and did not forbear to beat Tyler
severely.

Tyler was obviously a very violent man who was capable of
the most extreme acts of aggression, although he never
actually murdered anyone as far as we know. But this violence
was not limited to a few individuals, but was culturally sanc-
tioned and at times could explode so as to almost engulf and
involve the whole community. Gough was fascinated by
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Tyler’s personality and gave several pages to his exploits and
personal history; the following incident described at length
illustrates the communal nature of violence. Tyler owed
money to a Mr. Bradocke, who had unsuccessfully attempted
to serve a warrant on him.

Afterwards Mr. Bradocke sent his tenant, William Byron
(a little man, but stout of his hands), to serve Tyler with
another warrant. Byron came (upon Sunday) to Myddle
Church to morning prayer (for in those days all writs
and processes might be served on the Lord’s day). William
Tyler came to church with a good backsword by his side,
which then was not usual. After service, Byron stood at
the church stile; and as soon as Tyler was gone over the
stile, Byron leapt on his back, and cast him down. Many
of Tyler's companions, and some women of his relations,
came to rescue Tyler; but the high constable, Mr.
Hatchett, a bold and discreet man, was present, some say
on purpose, and he quieted the people. Roger Sandford,
of Newton (who married Mary Bradocke, aunt to Mr.
Bradocke), was there, with his servants and friends, to
assist Byron; and one Willilam Hussey, servant to Roger
Sandford, came to assist Byron; and Tyler got Hussey’s
thumb in his mouth, and worried all the flesh to the bare
~bone: but Hugh Suker, a weaver, standing by with a pike-
staff in his hand, put the pikes into Tyler’s mouth and
wrenched open his teeth, and released Hussey. At last
Tyler was set on horseback, and Byron leapt up behind
him to hold him there, and William Hussey led the horse,
and thus Tyler went toward the jail. But the consterna-
tion and lamentation of Tyler’s friends, especially the
women, was such as I cannot easily demonstrate . . .

All the company followed William Tyler out of town;
and at the town’s end there, upon a bank near the
pinfold, stood John Gossage and several others of
Tyler’s drunken companions, with a pailful of ale.
Gossage cried, “Ah, Will! art going to the jail?” Tyler
sald, “It is too true.” Then says Gossage, “Come, boys;
fall on!” but Tyler cried, “Hold, hold. It is to no purpose;”
so they took him away. When they came a little below the
Lea Hall, the miller of the windmill met them, carrying
a sword on his shoulder, with the hilt behind him; Tyler
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put his hand in the hilt of the sword and drew it out,
and struck at Hussey; but Byron soon pitched him beside
the horse, and took the sword from him. Byron would not
give the sword to the miller; and Hussey carried the
naked sword in his hand, and led the horse; and so Tyler
was brought to jail.

The story speaks for itself and is so rich in detail, that we
can only touch on some of its sociological implications. The
explosion of violence was contained by the presence of the
high constable, although Tyler himself stopped his friends
from using violence on his behalf after he had been arrested.
We are in a different cultural world to that of today; Gough’s
world is that of Shakespeare’s, a world that has not yet been
“civilised”, a world in which the Englishman of today — polite,
tolerant and non-violent — would find very frightening. But
Gough’s social world is one of blood and roses — violence, but
also of lamentation, loyalty, sadness and love — social inten-
sities which English communities of today certainly lack. With
Gough we are not in Freud’s world of civilization and its dis-
contents, but are in an era of passionate acting out of impulse
and feeling. The language is rich in colour and feeling, and
there are passages in Gough’s writing which could be mistaken
for the work of Shakespeare.

Freud believed that the acting out of intense feelings of
violence was associated with a relative absence of neurosis,
in particular freedom from clinical states of depression and
melancholy.’ This is based on the theoretical assumption that
aggression not expressed outwardly is invariably turned
inwards against the self, and that feelings of depression are
the result of self-punishment and self-hatred. Several socio-
logists — including Durkheim — have pointed to the inverse
correlation between homicide and suicide rates, i.e. the more
murder, the less suicide, and vice versa.’ This conclusion has
come in for a certain amount of criticism in recent years,
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mainly on the grounds that such an inverse correlation does
not hold in some societies studied.” However, most of the
exceptions are for non-European societies in which additional
cultural factors appear to be acting to complicate the analysis.
In European societies Freud’s theory seems to fit rather well,
and in particular, Catholic countries have (at least until very
recently) high homicide but low suicide rates, and Protestant
countries the reverse. Seventeenth century England was still
“Catholic” from this point of view, and certainly much of
Gough’s book could easily be mistaken for a description of
Ireland and its historical culture until very recently. There
were only two definite cases of suicide in Myddle as described
Gough, although there was a third ambiguous case of a man
who was suffering from grief due to his brother’s death, who
was soon afterward found dead in a well in his garden. Even if
we count this as a case of suicide, the rate seems to have been
very low compared to modern experience. Suicide rates were
quite low generally in England in the pre-industrial period —
varying between 0.6 and 4.0 annual suicides per 100,000 popu-
lation,! compared to about 9.0 per 100,000 today. Whereas
suicide is about ten times as common as homicide today,
in Myddle homicide was about four times as common as sui-
cide, and this was probably fairly typical of the country as a
whole.

The suicide that did occur in Myddle seems to have been
linked with violence, as is seen in the following case, which
was one of the two unambiguous cases. A certain Clarke was
son in law to Richard Wolph, and Clarke’s wife having died he,

by fair and flattering speeches, persuaded the old man to
deliver all his estate to him, on condition of being main-
tained while he lived. Clarke having now got an estate,
followed his old way of drinking; and when he came
home drunk, he would so abuse the old man, that he
made him a weary of his life; and, therefore, in a
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melancholic fit of grief, he went on foot to Wem, and
bought poison, which he eat up as he came homeward;
and when he came home he was extremely sick, and
vomited exceedingly: he told what he had done, and
would fain have lived; but no antidote could immediately
be had, so he died. The coroner’s inquest found him a
felo de se; and he was buried on Myddle Hill, at that
crossway where the roadway from Ellesmere to Shrews-
bury, called the Lower-way, goes over cross the way that
goes from Myddle toward the Red Bull, but was removed
next night: and some say he was interred in a rye field
of his own, which is over against John Benion’s, in that
corner of the piece next the place where Penbrook’s gate
stood.

The traditional practice of burying a suicide at the crossroads
was followed in this instance, although the corpse was re-
buried privately the following day.

Why was there so much violence in Myddle and other
seventeenth century English communities? One answer per-
haps can be found in the sanctioning of violence by the
government of the day and the relevant local authorities; hang-
ing was of course practised and two of the ten persons respon-
sible for the homicides mentioned by Gough were dealt with
in this way. The possible deterrent effect of hanging must have
been weakened by the frequency with which murderers escaped
this form of punishment: two of the ten escaped detection,
three successfully pleaded benefit of clergy — which in effect
was a privilege of the rich — one languished in prison until
released by the parliamentary authorities during the Civil War,
and the fate of two is unknown. There is little evidence any-
way that hanging or capital punishment has any deterrent
effect, and the violence sanctioned by the authorities is more
likely to have increased homicide. Several hangings are men-
tioned by Gough, but they are usually for quite trivial offences
such as horse stealing, theft, and in one particularly pathetic
case, a boy was hung for helping in a prison escape. Institu-



xvii

tions such as the pillory helped encourage violence; this can
be illustrated by the treatment of one Clarke, a Roman
Catholic, who had been heard to utter threatening statements
about the Church of England. After having been put in the

pillory

The people, by pelting him with eggs, turnips, carrots,
stones and dirt, used him so hardly, that the under-
sheriff took him down, for fear he should be killed out-
right. The people followed him to-the jail door, and
pelted him all the way. He lay some while sick and sore
at Shrewsbury, and after he was brought to Ellesmere
and there put to stand on the pillory, where he found
the like favour from the under-sheriff, and the like hard
usage, or worse, from the people; and hereupon the
high sheriff wrote a letter to the judge, and acquainted
him what he had done, and with all told him, that he
could promise to put Clarke upon the pillory at Oswestry,
but could not promise to bring him alive from amongst
the enraged Welshmen; and thereupon the rest of the
punishment was remitted.

Another factor in the high level of violence was almost
certainly the amount of drunkenness and general consumption
of alcohol. At least three of the ten homicides involved very
heavy drinking, and we have seen how violent incidents of the
kind associated with William Tyler and his friends were linked
with drunkenness. Gough’s pages are full of accounts of
drunkenness and alcoholic drinking, the first alone having
twenty-three entries in the subject index. Mentions of ale-
houses and inns proliferate, and a common theme is the
economic ruin of families and individuals through debt on
account of drink. Drinking was not confined to men, and there
are several references to women going to the local alehouses,
some obviously on a day-to-day basis (women appeared to have
been free of some of the social constraints imposed on them
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in the later Victorian period — Gough himself admired women
of “masculine spirit”). He moralizes on occasions about the
evils of drink, but was capable of great sympathy for certain
individuals partly ruined in this way. The following story
shows him at his best, weaving a delightful mix of the comic
and tragic, revealing at the same time a central feature of
seventeenth century social life.

Thomas Hayward the second was a handsome gentle-
man, a good country scholar and a pretty clerk. He was
a person well reputed in his country and of a general
acquaintance. He was just and faithful in affirming or
denying any matter in controversy, so that less credit
was given to some men’s oath than to his bare word.
He was well skilled in the art of good husbandry. His
father left him a farm of thirty pounds (fee simple) in
Newton-on-the-Hill and the lease of this farm in
Balderton. He had eight pounds (land in fee simple) left
him by an uncle in Whixhall. He married with Alice, the
daughter of Mr. Wihen, high school master, in Shrews-
bury. He had a good fortune with her in money, besides
houses in town of considerable yearly value. She was a
comely woman, but highly bred and unfit for a country
life, besides she was shrewd with tongue, so that they
lived unquietly and uncomfortably, and their estate con-
sumed insensibly.

He had little quietness at home which caused him to
frequent public houses merely for his natural sustenance,
and there meeting with company and being generally
well beloved he stayed often too long. His intimate friend
was Mr. Hotchkins of Webscott, and indeed there seemed
to be a natural sympathy between them for they were
both of them very just honest persons and well beloved —
but their deportment when they were in drink was very
different for Mr. Hodgkins could go but not speak, and
Mr. Hayward could speak as well and seemed to be more
acute and witty in his drink then at other times but
could not go.

This Thomas Hayward sold and consumed all his
estate and was afterwards maintained on charity by his
eldest son.
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Addiction to drink and the local ale-house was not confined
to the poor and the culturally rough; in fact the distinction
between a respectable middle class and a rough working class
did not properly emerge until the nineteenth century.®’ The
segregation of social classes also probably did not arise until
the same period, and the easy relationship between people of
different social statuses was partly a function of cultural spon-
taneity (including drinking) mentioned earlier. An example of
this lies in the relationship between Thomas Jukes and Sir
Humphrey Lea. ‘

Thomas Jukes was a bawling, bold, confident person;
he often kept company with his betters, but showed them
no more respect than if they had been his equals or
inferiors. He was a great bowler, and often bowled with
Sir Humphrey Lea at a bowling green on Haremeare
Heath, near the end of the Lea Lane; where he would
make no more account of Sir Humphrey, than if he had
been a plough-boy. He would ordinarily tell him he lied,
and sometimes throw the ball at his head, and then they
parted in wrath. But within few days, Sir Humphrey
would ride to Newton, and take Jukes with him to the
bowls; and if they did not fall out, would take him home
and make him drunk.

The familiar mixture of aggression, drunkenness and sociability
is to be found in this anecdote. It also illustrates the relative
social openness of a community like Myddle, and this may
have been partly a function of it having been in a woodland
area. Contemporaries believed that woodland communities
were particularly prone to violence; for example, Norden
wrote that “the people bred amongst woods are naturally more
stubborn and uncivil than in the champion counties”, and
Aubrey saw the woodlanders as “mean people (who) live law-
less (with) nobody to govern them, they care for nobody, hav-
ing no dependence on anybody.”® This was because
settlements were scattered in woodland areas — there was a
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total of seven townships (hamlets) within the parish of Myddle,
plus the chapelry of Hadnall — and they tended to have a large
number of freeholders and independent small farmers; this
can be contrasted with champion villages, where the popu-
lation tended to be concentrated into a single nucleated village
under the control of the local squire.

An additional factor in the case of Myddle was that it was
a marcher lordship, created to deal with border violence
between the Welsh and the English. The marcher lord was
given certain summary legal and military powers, including
the power of immediate execution of Welsh raiders and
criminals transgressing local laws. This institution was no
longer in being when Gough was writing, but it may have left
a tradition of violence in its wake. An instance of this was the
heriot custom in lordship marches; the heriot on entering the
lease of a farm was “the best weapon” — and the availability
of personal weapons was associated with many of the incidents
of violence described by Gough.

But the use of personal weapons in violence was not con-
fined to border areas and they were worn almost universally
at about this time. At the end of the sixtéenth century William
Harrison wrote :

“. . . seldom shall you see any of my countrymen above
eighteen or twenty years old to go without a dagger at
least at his back or by his side . . . Our nobility wear
commonly swords or rapiers with their daggers, as doth
every common servingman also that followeth his lord
and master.”!

Little is known about the history of personal weapons — as far
as I know virtually no research has been done on this important
social historical subject — but it is probable that the wearing
of such weapons declined mainly in the eighteenth century.
This appears to have coincided with a dramatic fall in the
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homicide rate,!> and both probably began to decline at the
very beginning of the eighteenth century after Gough had
completed his work. I suspect it is no accident that this was
the period when the industrial revolution was getting under-
way, although what was cause and what was consequence is
difficult to disentangle. Such a major topic is clearly beyond
the scope of this introduction, although we might notice in
passing that the decline of homicide and the outward
expression of aggression occurred at the same time as the
growth of puritanism (in particularMethodism), which Weber
saw as instrumental to the development of capitalism.!?

One special factor in the creation of violence during Gough’s
lifetime was of course the Civil War. Gough gives a number
of accounts of incidents in the Civil War, some of which were
based on personal experience, and it is this personal flavour
which brings to life so vividly his narrative. An example of
this was when he witnessed Robert More trying to recruit
men for the king’s army :

I was then a youth of about eight or nine years of age,

and I went to see this great show. And there I saw a

multitude of men, and upon the highest bank of the hill

I saw this Robert More standing, with a paper in his

hand, and three or four soldier’s pikes, stuck upright in

the ground by him; and there he made a proclamation,

that if any person would serve the king, as a soldier in

the wars, he should have fourteen groats a week for

his pay.
It is often because Gough knew the participants — or at least
knew of them — that he was able to bring out the human side
of a war which has often been treated in an abstract fashion.
Listen to the following description of an incident between
royalist and parliamentary forces; a certain Scoggan was made
governor of a garrison placed at Abright Hussey :

I remember the soldiers fetched bedding from Newton
for the use of the soldiers there. They took only one
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coarse bed hilling from my father. A party of horse, of
the parliament side, came on a Sunday, in the afternoon,
and faced this garrison, and Scoggan, standing in a
window, in an upper room, cried aloud, that the others
heard him say, “Let such a number go to such a place,
and so many to such a place; and let twenty come with
me:” (but he had but eight in all in the house). And
Scoggan, seeing one Phillip Bunny among the enemies,
who was a tailor, born in Hadnall, he took a fowling gun,
and called to Bunny, and said, “Bunny, have at thee!”
and shot him through the leg, and killed his horse. The
parliament soldiers took up Bunny, and departed.

Gough certainly makes us question some of our pre-
conceptions about the Civil War period. The association
between puritanism and parliamentarianism comes in for a
shaking by the following story:

Mr. Mackworth made Captain Hill (a prodigal drunken
fellow, who before the wars was a pitiful barber in this
town) lieutenant of the castle. But the townsmen and
garrison soldiers hated him; and therefore as soon as
there was a prospect of the return of King Charles II
they conspired against him; and one of the townsmen
sent for him out of the castle to drink with him at the
Loggerheads, an alehouse hard by; and as soon as he was
gone out of the castle, the soldiers shut the gate and cast
his clothes and boots over the wall, and immediately the
town was in an uproar; and Hill for fear of his life fled
away that night and I never heard more of him.

A drunken barber made the lieutenant of a parliamentary
garrison, and ejected on the advent of the return of the king —
it is this type of evidence which leads to the re-writing of his-
tory books. But how reliable is Gough as an informant? Where
it has been possible to check him against other sources, he
has been found to be highly accurate.’* He had the habit of
repeating himself without realising it, and this allows us to
check on his internal consistency; most of the repetitions are
trivial and have been eliminated from the edited text, but in
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order to let the reader compare one duplicated story for him-
self, I give the following important passage which will be
found in alternative form on page 118.

Robert Hayward the eldest son of Thomas Hayward
and Alice his wife, was set apprentice to a refiner of silver
in London. (I have heard him say that his father gave
only the price of an old cow with him.) His master was
a dissenter and was one of that sect which are called
millenarians, or fifth monarchy men. After the restora-
tion of King Charles II, the men ef this sect were per-
suaded or rather deluded by their teachers and
ringleaders, that now the time was come that Christ’s
Kingdom was to begin on earth, that they must provide
themselves of arms and fight for their Lord and King
against Antichrist; that they need not fear, although
they were but few, for one of them should chase a 100,
and 100 should chase 10,000, and by such persuasions
these poor deluded people made an insurrection in the
city, which being showed to his majesty and his council,
the king commanded that his life guard and the city
militia should be sent to suppress them. I heard it re-
ported that in the streets of the city they fought very
desperately, and some were Killed but many wounded on
both sides. At last the city militia got some behind them,
and some came upon them through cross streets, so that
being encompassed about on all sides they were forced to
lay down their arms and cry quarter; the prisons in
London were filled with them. Robert Hayward was one
of the prisoners. Some of the ringleaders were executed
and some of the rest were fined, and those that had noth-
ing were set at liberty.

Although both accounts give more-or-less the same version
of the uprising, the above is more detailed on the degree of
resistance and the tenacity of the rebellion. In the text account
“they were all pardoned except their ringleader who I think
was hanged”, whereas in above “some of the ringleaders were
executed”. Gough was probably at his least reliable when he
had no direct personal experience of the event described, and
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fortunately for us, most of his stories relate to the arena of his
own personal life, i.e. the community of Myddle.

I mentioned at an earlier point the prevalence of theft in
Myddle — thirteen pages in the text mention the subject — and
not surprisingly most of the goods stolen were agricultural
produce. I quote the following story at length as it illuminates
a number of sociological themes in the one passage. A certain
Reece Wenlocke

was descended of good parentage, who were tenants of a
good farm, called Whottall, in Ellesmere Lordship. But
the father of this Reece was a bad husband, and a pilfer-
ing, thievish person, and this son, Reece, and another
son, named John, who lived at Bald Meadow, in this
parish, were as bad as their father. They never stole any
considerable goods, but were night walkers, and robbed
orchards and gardens, and stole hay out of meadows,
and corn when it was cut in the fields, and any small
things that persons by carelessness had left out of doors.
Reece had a cow, which was stolen away, and it is re-
ported that he went to a woman, whom they called the
wise woman of Montgomery, to know what had become
of his cow; and as he went, he put a stone in his pocket,
and told a neighbour of his that was with him that he
would know whether she were a wise woman or not, and
whether she knew that he had a stone in his pocket.
And it is said, that when he came to her, she said, thou
hast a stone in thy pocket, but it is not so big as that
stone wherewith thou didst knock out such a neighbour’s
harrow tines. But the greatest diskindness that he did to
his neighbours was, by tearing their hedges. And it is
reported, that he had made a new oven; and, according
to the manner of such things, it was at first to be well
burnt, to make it fit for use, and this he intended to do
in the night. At that time William Higginson dwelt at
Webscot, and he had a servant, named Richard Mercer,
a very waggish fellow. This Mercer did imagine that
Reece would tear his master’s hedges to burn the oven;
and as he walked by a hedge, which was near Reece’s
house, he saw there a great dry stick of wood, and took
it home with him, and bored a hole in the end of it with
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an auger, and put a good quantity of powder in it, and
a peg after it, and put it again into the hedge. And it
happened, that Reece Wenlocke, among other hedgewood,
took this stick to burn in his oven; and when he cast it
into the fire in the oven, it blew up the top of it, and set
fire on the end of the house. Reece went out and made
hideous crying, fire! fire! William Higginson, being the
next neighbour, heard him, and called Mercer, but he
said I know what is the matter; however, they went both
down to the Meare House, but Reece had put out the fire
that was in the end of the house, and the oven was
broken to pieces. )

The combination of theft, humour and violence makes com-
pelling reading, although it is easy to forget the ruthlessness
involved in blowing up someone’s house as a part of a prac-
tical joke. The theft which took place seemed fairly indis-
criminate, and if we are worried today about the level of
burglary and theft, we can take historical comfort in how
much more our ancestors were prone to this particular
problem. Gough’s mention of the wise woman of Montgomery
is his only reference to a contemporary belief in magic,
although various beliefs which we would now consider super-
stitious (for example, the linking of pigeons with disease) are
referred to. Some social historians have stressed the import-
ance of witchcraft beliefs, but this is for other areas of the
country and for an earlier period of the seventeenth century.!s
Its complete absence in Myddle is somewhat surprising none-
theless, particularly when it is remembered that Gough was
capable of taking his history back a hundred years or more
to before when he was born (the practise of oral history was
obviously very strong in the village). '

Ruthlessness was not confined to acts of personal violence,
but could extend to personal relationships within the family.
A certain Samuel Downton had contracted a great deal of
debt, mainly through drink, and had come to run an alehouse.
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After some years this Samuel Downton and his wife
(having sold some of their household goods) got away
from Cockshutt in the night-time and left all their chil-
dren behind them — four of which were after maintained
by the parish of Ellesmere. They went into Staffordshire
and there he went a begging like an old decrepit person
and she carried a box with pins and laces. But after
awhile she got a new spark that travelled the country
and went away with him, and then this Samuel came
again to Alderton to his son Thomas who maintained him
during his life.

The harsh treatment of children seems to have been rare going
by the evidence provided by Gough; they were occasionally
deserted as in the Downton family, and sometimes (as we have
seen) violence was used against them. But there are as many
references to indulgent treatment of children, and this perhaps
explains in the main why so many children were prepared to
maintain and take care of their aged parents (there are eight
pages in the text in which this is mentioned). Gough does
mention however hostile reactions of children towards their
parents; for example, one of the disputes resulting in homicide
started when Charles Hesketh used “very scurrilous, abusive,
and undutiful language towards his parents.”

Fairly frequent mention is made of desertion and separation
between marriage partners, such as occurred between Samuel
Downton and his wife. Flight was a common response to un-
resolvable situations (Ireland was frequently mentioned as a
place that people ran to in difficulty) such as a marriage break-
down; the other common reason for running away was in order
to avoid responsibility for an illegitimate child. Illegitimacy
appears frequently in Gough’s pages (sixteen pages in the text
include references to it), and the following gives a flavour
of his treatment of the subject. William and Margaret
Challoner had
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three daughters, two of which are as impudent whores
as any in this country; one of them has two bastards,
and she being run out of the country, they are both
maintained by the parish. The other is now (Jan. 20, 1701)
great with a bastard, and at Christmas last was sent by
order into Wem parish, where her last service and settle-
ment was. She has fathered it on Stephen Formeston, her
uncle’s son, and he has fled.

According to the local parish register, only about one per cent
of all baptisms in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries were
of illegitimate children,! but this figure is very unreliable when
set against Gough’s evidence. Probably many illegitimate chil-
dren were never baptised, and this should make one very wary
of using these statistics uncritically.!? Gough himself did not
mention all examples of illicit sexuality in Myddle; the
Anglican ecclesiastical court charged Arthur Davies and Jane
Morris in 1699 and 1700 with “living together in open forni-
cation”,'® and although Gough refers to them after they were
married, there is no mention of any sexual impropriety.

Not surprisingly, venereal disease appears more than once
in Gough — there are three pages of the text which mention
it. Disease and illness were very common in Myddle at this
time, and although there is no systematic treatment, we do get
an invaluable insight into the subject. The symptoms of rickets
and scurvy are described, and the presence of these illnesses
indicate that inadequacies of diet were present. Both diseases
were however extremely rare, and other evidence in Gough’s
book suggests that most people were adequately fed — meat
appearing to be a central part of the staple diet. (The over-
consumption of meat may have been a reason for the case of
scurvy.) The most serious disease at this time appears to have
been “fever”, and there was at least one damaging epidemic
outbreak in Gough’s time (the exact cause of this fever is
unknown — it was probably typhus). Plague had appeared in
Shrewsbury, and Gough mentions certain individuals catching
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and dying from it in London — but by this period it was
mainly an urban disease, on the point of disappearance. There
are three mentions of smallpox, and although it was very wide-
spread at this time, it was still a relatively benign disease — its
virulence only really increased at the beginning of the
eighteenth century. There is a frequent mention of childless-
ness and this may have been because of the prevalence of
diseases like smallpox, because even in mild form it is capable
of producing infertility. Lameness appears fairly frequently,
often due to the accidents which were a common hazard in
seventeenth century Myddle. Illness was treated by doctors
and apothecaries, although probably only the wealthy used
their services to any extent; much more common was the
practice of amateur medicine, and women seemed to have
played a significant role in this, particularly in surgical opera-
tions (this may have been associated with their roles of mid-
wives). Gough does give an example of what we might call
magical medicine; one woman tried to cure her illness through
the “King’s Touch” — this was the practice of people being
touched by the king when he was touring the countryside, in
the belief that he had charismatic powers of cure — sadly with
the lady in question, the cure was unsuccessful.

If Gough is at all a reliable guide, mental illness was
extremely rare at this time; there was only one case of what
might be called a psychotic illness, and one other case of what
we would now call mental defectiveness — although Gough
describes the sufferer much more evocatively, in calling him
an “innocent”. Of course there were people displaying neurotic
symptoms, but these seemed to have been less frequent than
they are today. Melancholy is mentioned on four pages, but
given the number of people mentioned in the book, this does
not appear to have been a common complaint. This is con-
sistent with the relatively low suicide rate, and it would there-
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fore seem that people living in this seventeenth century
community were less afflicted by the various forms of mental
illness. This may have been due partly to their ability to
express openly their most intense feelings — including those of
aggression — in an open social context. Another factor might
have been to the close-knit nature of the community; this is
most strikingly illustrated by Gough’s own knowledge of the
people in the village — who today could know so much about
so many people in the community in which they live?

We should not exaggerate however the absence of personal
problems at this time; there are frequent mentions of unhappy
marriages, quarrels and violence. One major problem that
many people had to face was poverty and destitution. Gough
mentions in passing the practice of paupers being made to
wear a paupers’ badge — a P sewn onto their clothing — which
reminds us of the harshness of seventeenth century life, par-
ticularly in the treatment of the poor. Admittedly, Gough tells
us that there were virtually no parish poor in his father’s
time — the payment of the poor-rate was virtually non-
existent — but there were clearly people in great destitution,
with mentions of begging and children being forced to main-
tain their aged relatives. Bankruptcy and debt were very
common, often as we have seen on account of drink, but also
due to the vagaries of trade and commerce. Many merchants
and tradesmen are said to have gone bankrupt — Gough tells
us that they “broke” — and this was frequently because of a
chain reaction of bankruptcies. This subject is most often
mentioned in connection with people living in Shrewsbury and
other local towns, but in this connection London looms sur-
prisingly large in the lives of the people of this small rural
community. But London was the centre of prosperity as well
as bankruptcy, and a number of poor people are said by
Gough to have made their fortune by emigrating to that place.
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The rise and fall in prosperity of tradesmen and merchants
is a theme which is mirrored in the surprisingly large amount
of social mobility. Nine pages in the text mention cases of
upward mobility, and ten downward — with an additional
seven pages giving cases of general social mobility — a total of
twenty-six pages. This may have been the result of the rela-
tively open nature of the social structure of the community
discussed earlier. Education was also much more common in
Myddle than might be expected, with frequent mentions of
schools and the teaching of both reading and writing. Myddle
in this respect was a “civilized” community, and we must set
this aspect of social life against the violence and drunkenness
discussed earlier in the introduction. The latter emphasis could
be misleading if we did not balance it out against descriptions
of contrary behavipur given to us by Gough. Many people are
described as peaceable, honest, just, charitable, pious, hospit-
able and hard-working. Most good stories tend to involve the
vices rather than the virtues, and Gough himself sometimes
admits that he has little to say about a particular person
because of their quiet peaceableness (there are ten pages of
the text with an entry in the index under the heading of
“peaceable”). The conclusions we come to about the nature
and quality of life in seventeenth century must ultimately be
personal and based on our own values; but as happy endings
are best, I will conclude by quoting at length from Gough’s
account of a man who he considered to have lived a virtuous
and happy life. Thomas Ash

was a proper, comely person; his father gave him good
country education, which, with the benefit of a good
natural wit, a strong memory, a courteous and mild
behaviour, a smooth and affable way of discourse, an
honest and religious disposition, made him a complete
and hopeful young man, insomuch as Mr. Edward
Hanmer, of Marton, was easily induced to give him his
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daughter Elizabeth to wife. This was a very suitable
match, for she was a lovely, proper gentlewoman, and
so like to her husband in disposition, that it should seem
there was a sympathy in nature between them, and
therefore they lived a loving and comfortable life
together. This Thomas Ash was not so much blamed for
being too nice in observing the canons, as he called
them, of the first counsel of the apostles at Jerusalem,
in abstaining from blood and things strangled, as he was
commended for avoiding that abominable sin of profane
swearing. For this Thomas Ash was much in debt; but
how it was contracted I cannot say, unless he was
charged with the payment of portions to his sisters, and
I doubt he had but little portion with his wife; however
he bore an honest mind, and was willing to pay every
man, and to that end he set his tenement to Edward
Payne of Meriton, for raising of money to pay debts; and
to shelter himself from the fatigue of duns, he listed
himself soldier in the king’s service in the wars, tempore
Car. I, and continued a soldier until the king’s forces
were utterly dispersed, but never attained to any higher
post than a corporal of foot. At his return, he brought
nothing home but a crazy body and many scars, the
symptoms of the dangerous service which he had per-
formed, and besides, he fould little of his debts paid, for
the payment of taxes and charges of repairs had taken
up most part of the rent; but he being minded that none
should lose by him, sold his lease to William Formeston.
He had some money to spare when he had satisfied his
debts, and with that he took a lease off Mr. Crosse of
Yorton, of several pieces of ground near Yorton Heath,
and there he built a little warm house, made a neat little
garden, planted a pretty orchard, built several outhouses,
and made everything very handsome and convenient, and
there he and his loving wife spent their old age, though
not in a plentiful, yet in a peaceable and contented
condition.
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INTRODUCTION

On Monday, September 24th, 1849 The Morning
Chronicle published an account of a visit to the cholera
districts of Bermondsey — the first of a series of articles on
the London poor by Henry Mayhew. The area he concen-
trated on was Jacob’s Island, one of the few districts
surviving the great fire of London; the island was sur-
rounded by a tidal ditch which had become one vast open
sewer and Mayhew described a part of the area as follows:

We then journeyed on to London-street, down which the tidal
ditch continues its course. In No. 1 of this street the cholera
first appeared seventeen years ago, and spread up it with
fearful virulence; but this year it appeared at the opposite
end, and ran down it with like severity. As we passed along
the reeking banks of the sewer the sun shone upon a narrow
slip of the water. In the bright light it appeared the colour
of a strong green tea, and positively looked as solid as. black
marble in the shadow — indeed it' was more like watery mud
than muddy water; and yet we were assured that this was the
only water that the wretched inhabitants had to drink. As we
gazed in hotror at it, we saw drains and sewers emptying
their filthy contents into it; we saw a whole tier of doorless
privies in the open road, common to men and women, built
over it; we heard bucket after bucket of filth splash into it,
and the limbs of the vagrant boys bathing in it seemed, by
pure force of contrast, white as Parian marble. And yet, as
we stood doubting the fearful statement, we saw a little child,
from one of the galleries opposite, lower a tin can with a rope
to fill a large bucket that stood beside her. In each of the
balconies that hung over the stream the same-self tub was
to be seen in which the inhabitants put the mucky liquid to
stand, so that they may, after it has rested a day or two, skim
the fluid from the solid particles of filth, pollution and disease.
As the little thing dangled her tin cup as gently as possible
into the stream, a bucket of night soil was poured down from
the next gallery.!
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The impact of the article was considerable; as a result of it
for example, Charles Kingsley and the Christian Socialists
pressed for sanitary reform.? Mayhew’s great skill lay in his
ability to vividly recreate scenes and events encountered —
we feel as we read his account that we are there in
Bermondsey, seeing what he saw, 130 years ago. Mayhew
also achieved the impact that he did through pioneering
what we would now call oral history — or in his words, “the
first attempt to publish the history of the people, from the
lips of the people themselves.””?

There was nothing new of course in the concern for
the conditions under which the poor lived — “The Condi-
tion of England™ question was long-standing, and had been
probed and investigated since the beginning of the century
in a series of medical, poor law and other government
reports. Perhaps what was new was a sharpening of the
concern of the propertied classes for the stability of the
social order in which they so clearly had an overwhelming
vested interest; The Morning Chronicle in its editorial,
announcing the commencement of the national survey of
labour and the poor, argued

“the starving or mendicant state of a large portion of the
people . . . if suffered to remain unremedied many years
longer, will eat, like a dry rot, into the very framework of
our society, and haply bring down the whole fabric with a
crash.”4

The Chartist agitation of the previous year had left its
mark, and the “dangerous classes” is a phrase which ap-
pears frequently in The Morning Chronicle — although
Mayhew only used it to rebut the assumptions and fears
which it concealed. A secondary concern revealed by The
Morning Chronicle editorial was the injustice of society as
it was then constituted — “No man of feeling or reflection
can look abroad without being shocked and startled by the
sight of enormous wealth and unbounded luxury, placed
in direct juxtaposition with the lowest extremes of indigence
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and privation.”s But again none of this was new — the
middle class public had long been aware through novels
as well as government reports of the existence of the poor —
what was new was that a man of great sensitivity of
language and feeling, was about to embark on one of the
greatest surveys of human life ever undertaken, and this
“factual” survey was to have an impact on contemporaries
that no other writing on the poor had ever had. To under-
stand how Mayhew achieved this impact is one of the aims
of this introduction.

Mayhew himself claimed that he had been respon-
sible for suggesting the national survey to The Morning
Chronicle, but this was disputed by the newspaper in an
editorial after Mayhew had broken with them.® Whatever
the origin of the survey, Mayhew’s first letter appeared in
the newspaper on October 19th, 1849, and a series of eighty-
two letters by him continued until December 12th, 1850.
Just over a third of this material was incorporated in
Mayhew’s later study, London Labour And The London
Poor, but the bulk of it has never been published (although
selections have appeared in the last few years’). The survey
covered many regions of England and Wales, and was
divided between three types of area — the rural, manu-
facturing and metropolitan. Mayhew was appointed the
metropolitan correspondent and he appears to have been
helped by his brother “Gus”, as well as by Charles Knight
and Henry Wood, along with assistants, stenographers and
general helpers.® It was Mayhew’s contribution that soon
attracted attention and the great majority of letters to the
newspaper concerned his accounts of the London poor,
rather than those on the countryside or industrial areas.
Not only was there great general interest, but novelists of
the day were clearly influenced by what they read — Charles
Kingsley incorporated some of Mayhew’s work into his
novel Altfon Locke and someone of the stature of Thackeray
wrote in the March 1850 issue of Punch:
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“A clever and earnest-minded writer gets a commission from
The Morning Chronicle newspaper; and reports upon the state
of our poor in London; he goes amongst labouring people and
poor of all kinds— and brings back what? A picture of human
life so wonderful, so awfiil, so piteous and pathetic, so excit-
ing and terrible, that readers of romancés own that they never
read anything like to it; and that-the griefs, struggles, strange
adventures here depicted exceed anything that any of us could
imagine . . .""®

Mayhew achieved this effect on his readers by combining
the survey side of his work with illustrations drawn from
vivid individual autobiographical histories. It was this latter
approach which gave his work such emotional force; people
could identify for the first time with the poor, not just as
depicted in a novel, but through the words of individuals
whose lives were being laid out before the reader. No
amount of statistical and official information on the poor
could come near to Mayhew’s work for emotional impact;
he may have arrived at his method partly through his
journalistic experience, but ironically, it was probably his
adherence to natural science which led him to such
a literal rendering of the evidence given to him by the
people he interviewed. But also Mayhew understood the
poor: there were elements in his character and experience
which led him to sympathize and identify with them, as we
will now see.

He was born in London in 1812 the son of a self-
made solicitor, and was educated at Westminster Public
School. The evidence we have suggests his father was both
tyrannical and unsympathetic to all his children, particularly
to his sons; he also appears to have been violent with his
wife. Mayhew wrote a satire on his father, suggesting that he
had a particular dislike for the front of respectability that his
father presented to the world.!® Although Mayhew appears
to have been a brilliant pupil, his indolence and rebel-
liousness led him to leave the school at an early age; he
refused to be flogged by the headmaster for a minor mis-
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demeanour and immediately left the school never to return.
Similarly, after a brief period of apprenticeship in his father
solicitor’s business, he caused his father some embarrass-
ment by forgetting to lodge legal papers, and fled the house
not to see his father for several years. Mayhew’s brilliance,
indolence and humour led him to adopt the life of a literary
bohemian, writing for satirical magazines (he claimed to
be one of the co-founders of Punch), newspapers, as well as
his own plays, short stories and novels. Much of this writing
had a radical edge which was probably linked with his
reaction against the conservative respectability of his father,
although his work was also characterized by some of the
middle-class assumptions of the day, showing that he had
not escaped the influence of his bourgeois background.!!

One aspect of Mayhew’s character which perhaps
has not been sufficiently stressed in other commentaries
on his work, was his interest in the natural sciences.
According to one account, he had unsuccessfully tried
to persuade his father to allow him to become an
experimental chemist,”? and when he left home, he spent
much of his time on such experiments (he is reputed to
have nearly blown up his brother’s house on one occa-
sion!!?), and his interest in natural science clearly informed
the way he approached The Morning Chronicle survey.
He wrote to the editor of that paper in February 1850
explaining his approach:

1 made up my mind to deal with human nature as a natural
philosopher or a chemist deals with any material object; and,
as a man who had devoted some little of his time to physical
and metaphysical science, I must say I did most heartily rejoice
that it should have been left to me to apply the laws of induc-
tive philosophy for the first time, I believe, in the world to the
abstract questions of political economy.!4

Although this stress on science and political economy would
seem a far cry from Mayhew the great originator of working
class oral history, with all its moving and vivid writing, the
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contradiction is not as great as it might seem. Mayhew
always stressed he was presenting a factual picture of the
London poor as he found them; when in dispute with the
editor of The Morning Chronicle about the content of some
of his articles — the editor had removed some passages anti-
pathetic to free trade — Mayhew insisted that the original
report of the speech of a boot-maker be restored on the
grounds that he was “a person collecting and registering
facts.”’> His notion of natural science was essentially that
it was an inductive discipline, with factual information
being collected in great detail before valid generalisations
could be reached. It was partly on these grounds that he
was critical of ‘the political economists of the day; he
believed that they constructed their theories without
familiarizing themselves with the complexities of the situa-
tions they were trying to explain.

An obvious weakness in Mayhew’s method was that
he did not use a strict process of random sampling in select-
ing informants — his work was carried out before this had
been developed — but he did attempt wherever possible to
avoid undue bias. This is illustrated by the dispute that
arose over the reliability of his evidence on Ragged Schools;
his assistant R. Knight gave the following account of the
method of selecting informants in a letter to The Morning
Chronicle:

[ was directed by your Special Correspondent to obtain for
him the addresses of some of the boys and girls who attended
the Ragged School in Westminster, so that he might be able
to visit them at their homes. Your correspondent desired me
to take the names of the first parties that came to hand, so
that neither particularly good nor bad cases might be selected,
but such as might be presumed to be fair average examples
of the practical tendency of the school in question.!6

Mayhew comes near here to a random sampling method,
but elsewhere he was too dependent on special sources of
information to be able to achieve this aim. Frequently
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he used key informants — doctors, clergymen, trade union
leaders — to both provide information on a subject and
introduce him to other informants in the area that he was
interested in. The disadvantages and potential bias in this
method is obvious, but in practice it seems to have been
remarkably successful. All of Mayhew’s key informants
appear to have been intelligent and well-informed men, and
were able to provide him with a range and depth of informa-
tion that would have been unavailable elsewhere (this is
perhaps a method that social scientists today might benefit
from rediscovering). A check on the reliability and objec-
tivity of the information given was the public nature of the
survey — errors were open to correction through the letter
column of the newspaper, and that there were only one or
two corrections of this kind,!” bears testimony to the high
overall accuracy of Mayhew’s work.

The major theme of the survey was of course
poverty, and an introduction of this kind can only touch
upon some of the more important aspects of the subject
as it was treated by Mayhew. One of the things that he
revealed to his contemporaries was the complexity of
poverty, as well as its inevitability. Anything which could
destroy a family’s ordinary means of livelihood — illness,
old age, death or accident — could throw it into the most
extreme and abject poverty. I quote at some length the
following account given to Mayhew of what happened to a
coalwhipper (a labourer unloading coal) after an accident:

I was a coalwhipper. I had a wife and two children. Four
months ago, coming off my day’s work, my foot slipped, and
1 fell and broke my leg. I was taken to the hospital, and re-
mained there ten weeks. At the time of the accident I had
no money at all by me, but was in debt by the amount of ten
shillings to my landlord. I had a few clothes of myself and
wife. While I was in the hospital 1 did not receive anything
from our benefit society, because I had not been able to keep
up my subscription. My wife and children lived, while I was
in hospital, by pawning my things, and going from door to



8

door, to every one she knowed, to give her a bit. The men
who worked in the same gang as myself made up 4s. 6d. for
me, and that, with two loaves of bread that they had from the
relieving-officer, was all they got. While I was in the hospital,
the landlord seized for the rent the few things that my wife
had not pawned; and turned her and my two little children
into the street — one was a boy three years old, and the other
a baby just turned ten months. My wife went to her mother,
and she kept her and my little ones for three weeks, till she
could do so no longer. My mother, poor old woman, was most
as bad off as we were. My mother only works on the ground —
out in the country at gardening. She makes about 7s. a week
in summer, and in the winter she only has only 9d. a day to
live upon; but she had at least a shelter for her child, and she
willingly shared that with her daughter and daughter’s chil-
dren. She pawned all the clothes she had to keep them from
starving — but  at last everything was gone from the poor old
woman, and then I got my brother to take my family in.
My brother worked at garden work, the same as my mother-
in-law did. He made about 15s. a week in summer, and about
half that in the winter time . . . He had only one room, but
he got in a bundle of straw for me, and we lived and. slept
there for seven weeks. He got credit for more than £1 of bread,
and tea, and sugar for us; and now he can’t pay, and the man
threateéns-to summon him for it. After I left my brother’s,
I came to live in the neighbourhood of ‘Wapping, for I thought
I might manage to do a day’s work at coalwhipping, and I
couldn’t bear to live on his little earning any longer — he
could scarcely keep himself then. At last I got a ship to deliver,
but I was too weak to do the work, and in pulling at the ropes,
my hand got sore, and festered for want of nourishment . . .
After this I was obliged to lay up again, and that’s the only
job of work that I have been able to do for this last four
months . . . I had one pennyworth of bread this morning.
We altogether had half-a-quatern loaf among the four of us,
but no tea nor coffee. Yesterday we had some bread, and tea,
and butter, but wherever my wife got it from I don’t know.
I was three days, but a short time back, without a taste of
food. (here he burst out crying). I had nothing but water which
passed my lips. I had merely a little at home, and that my
wife and children had. I would rather starve myself than let
them do so. Indeed, I've done it over and over again. I never
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begged. I'd die in the streets first. I never told nobody of my
life: The foreman of my gang was the only one besides God
that knew of my misery; and his wife came to me and brought
me money and brought me food; and himself too, many a
time (“I had a wife and five childrén of my own to maintain,
and it grieved me to my heart,” said the man who sat by, “to
see them want, and I unable to do more for them.”)!8

Anyone tempted to dismantle the welfare state would do
well to ponder this passage at some length; there is no doubt
whatsoever from the voluminous evidence produced by
Mayhew and the other correépondents of The Morning
Chronicle, that this man’s experience of what happened in
sickness ‘and ill-health was entirely typical. It is not only
the extreme poverty of the family itself, but the poverty of
their neighbours, workmates and relatives which gives the
report such importance in revealing the terrible conditions
under which the poor of Victorian England lived. The
harshness with which the family were treated by the land-
lord and the relieving officer obviously added considerably
to their misery; only the support of neighbours, workmates
and above all, relatives, enabled them to survive at all.

Mayhew makes it very clear that these cases were
not merely examples of individual distress, but were
characteristic of whole classes of people. Poverty of this
kind was the result of structural changes in society, a theme
which became Mayhew’s over-riding concern in his Morning
Chronicle letters. He analysed the poverty resulting from
changes in the organisation of trades, and began to
generalise this into an indictment of the whole of capitalist
society. Before he embarked on this analysis, he gathered
together a vast amount of empirical evidence on the inci-
dence and nature of poverty, and perhaps what was so
unusual about this, was his ability to write so well about
what other authors had managed to make so mundane and
boring; here is his description of the hiring of labourers in
the docks:
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As the foreman calls from a book the names, some men jump
upon the backs of the others, so as to lift themselves high
above the rest, and attract the notice of him who hires them.
All are shouting. Some cry aloud his surname, some his
christian name; others call out their own names, to réemind
him that they are there. Now the appeal is made in Irish
blarney, now in broken English. Indeed it is a sight to sadden
the most callous, to see thousands of men struggling for only
one day’s hire, the scuffie being made the fiercer by the know-
ledge that hundreds out of the number assembled must be left
to idle the day out in want. To look in the faces of that
hungry crowd is to see a sight that must be ever remembered. !9

He went on to detail the poverty of the dock labourers, and
illustrated this in brilliant fashion through interviews with
individual dockers and their families — families that lived
in one squalid, unheated and virtually unfurnished room.
who were frequently subject to hunger and illness, without
proper clothing — children without shoes and socks — and
could only find work if they were prepared to participate
in the scramble described above. Many of the people seek-
ing dock work had previously been silk-weavers living and
working in the Spitalfields area; the drastic decline in the
prosperity in this trade was delineated by Mayhew in one
of his first letters.2°

Although silk-weaving was the most dramatic
example of an occupation falling into destitution, most of
the trades covered by Mayhew were subject to something
of the same process. Real wages fell amongst nearly all
occupational groups, and The Morning Chronicle survey
provides an unrivalled series of economic histories of
various trades from the late eighteenth century onwards.
Workers in the shoe- and boot-making trade had suffered
severely in living standards since the prosperity of the
Napoleonic wars, as was revealed by one of Mayhew’s
informants :

In 1812 the boot-makers received their highest wages. If an
average could have been taken then of the earnings of the
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trade, one with another, I think it would have been about 35s.
a man. The great decrease (from 35s. to 13s.6d. a week)
that has taken place is not so much owing to the decrease of
wages as to the increase of hands; and the consequent decrease
of work coming to each man. I know myself that my late
master used to earn £2 a week on average many years back,
but of late years I 'am sure he has not made 15s. a week.2!

Mayhew unfortunately did not collect systematic informa-
tion on changes in prices — the evidence he did publish
suggests that prices only begun to fall significantly after
the mid-1840’s. But the qualitative evidence on living stan-
dards more than outweighs this deficiency. Here is a
description of a boot-maker’s earnings and style of life in
the early years of the century:

I got work in Mr. Hoby’s . . . not long after the battle of
Waterloo, in 1815, and was told by my fellow workmen that
I wasn’t born soon enough to see good times; but I've lived
long enough to see bad ones. Though I wasn’t born soon
enough; as they said I could earn, and did earn £150 a year,
something short of £3 a week; and that for-eight years when
trade became not so good . . . I could then play my £1 a
corner at whist. T wouldn’t play at that time for less than 3s.
I could afford a glass of wine, but was never a drinker; and
for all that, I had my £100 in the Four per Cents for a long
time (I lent it to a friend afterwards), and from £40 to £50
in the savings bank. Some made more than me, though I must
work. I can’t stand still. One journeyman, to my knowledge,
saved £2,000; he once made 34 pairs of boots in three weeks.
The bootmen then at Mr. Hoby’s were all respectable men;
they were like gentlemen — smoking their pipes in their frilled
shirts, like gentlemen — all but the drunkards. At the trade
meetings, Hoby’s best men used to have one corner of the
room to themselves, and were called the House of Lords.
There was more than one hundred of us when I became one;
and before then there were an even greater number. Mr. Hoby
has paid five hundred pounds a week in wages. It was easy
to save money in those days; one could hardly help it. We shall
never see the like again.??

Contrast this with the life-style of a boot-closer who
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assured me that he had dealt with his baker for fourteen or
fifteen years and had never been. able to get out of debt
lately . . . As for a coat, he said; “Oh, God bless my soul, sir,
I haven’t -bought one for- this six or seven years, and my
missus- has not' been able to purchase a gown for the same
time; to do so out of my earnings now is impossible. If it
wasn’t for a cousin of mine that is in place, we shouldn’t have
a thing to our backs, and working for the best wages too . . .
Wages have been going down ever since 1830. Before that time
my wife attended to her domestic duties only . . . Since that
period my wife has been obliged to work at shoe-binding, and
my daughter as well . . . My comforts have certainly not in-
creased in proportion with the price of provisions. In 1811 to
1815 bread was very high — I think about Is. 103d. the best
loaf —and T can say T was much more comfortable then than
at present. I had a meat dinner at that time every day, but
now I'm days without seeing the sight of it. If provisions were
not as cheap as they are now we should be starving
outright . . 723

These were men who worked in the “honourable” part of
the trade — working on the premises of their employer for
fixed hours, their conditions of work regulated by agree-
ment with their trade union. Although increasingly
impoverished by the fall in wages, their situation was much
better than that of people working in the “dishonourable”
sector — those who either worked for themselves as
“chamber masters” in their own homes, or were employed
by them. This sector was strongly concentrated in the east
end of London, whereas the more respectable part of the
trade were concentrated mainly in the west end. This
polarisation of the trades-— with about ten per cent
“honourable” and ninety per cent “dishonourable” — was
revealed by Mayhew to be common in the London trades.
He summarized the markedly different life-styles of the two
groups and illustrated it with reference to the tailoring
trade:

The very dwellings of the people are sufficient to tell you the
wide difference between the two classes. In the one you occa-
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sionally find small statues of Shakespeare beneath glass shades;
in the other all is dirt and foetor. The working tailor’s com-
fortable first-floor at the West-end is redolent with the
perfume of the small bunch of violets that stand in the tumbler
over the mantel-piece; the sweater’s wretched garret is rank
with the stench of filth and herrings. The honourable part of
the trade are really intelligent artisans, while the slopworkers
are generally almost brutified with their incessant toil,
wretched pay, miserable food, and filthy homes.?

The sweating system at its worst could be highly dangerous
to health and life, as was revealed by someone who had
worked for one:

One sweater I worked with had four children, six men, and
they, together with his wife, sister-in-law, and himself, all
lived in two rooms, the largest of which was about eight feet
by ten. We worked in the smallest room and slept there as
well — all six of us. There were two turn-up beds in it, and
we slept three in a bed. There was no chimney, and indeed
no ventilation whatever. I was near losing my life there . . .
Almost all the men were consumptive, and I myself attended
the dispensary for disease of the lungs.?s

What had brought about the terrible mass of misery
and poverty that week after week filled The Morning
Chronicle’s pages? The answer of the political economists
of the day was that it was largely due to an over-rapid
expansion of population, and it was this Malthusian
orthodoxy that Mayhew was most concerned to dispute.
He did not contest that an over-supply of labour would
lead to a fall in wages and living standards, but criticized
the Malthusian conclusion on empirical grounds. In his
later work London Labour And The London Poor, he
argued that there had been no excessive increase in popula-
tion in the first half of the nineteenth century, stating that
the demand for labour as measured by various output/
production series, had more than kept pace with population
increase.?® He did not seem to realise that this contradicted
his own findings about the increasing poverty of the mass
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of the people, although he could have saved part of his
argument by stressing the re-distribution of income from
poor to rich. The re-distribution would have had to have
been very dramatic to account for the depth of poverty he
found in his survey, and there is no evidence that it ever
reached this scale. The major problem with Mayhew’s argu-
ment is that he used production series for commodities such
as cotton and wool, which are known to have expanded
very dramatically, the textile industry being central to the
industrial revolution then taking place. The standard of
living and how it changed in this period has of course
become a subject of extensive scholarly debate, but this
does not appear to be resolvable with existing statistical
data. Mayhew’s own detailed qualitative evidence seems
much more useful in telling us what was happening at this
time, and the conclusion from his survey must be that there
was a vast increase in poverty during the first half of the
nineteenth century.

How are we to reconcile the above conclusion with
some of the statistical series on wages which appear to
contradict it? The answer lies I believe in what the boot-
maker told Mayhew in the interview quoted previously —
that it was not so much a fall in wage rates of existing
trades that was responsible, but a significant decrease in
the amount of employment available and the growth of
sweated work practices outside of the recognized (and pre-
sumably the statistically measured) regular trades. Mayhew
himself stated that “in the generality of trades the calcula-
tion is that one-third of the hands are fully employed, one-
third partially, and one-third unemployed throughout the
year.”?” This would seem to bring the analysis back to an
over-supply of labour and an excessively expanding popula-
tion, but Mayhew had a series of detailed arguments based
on his empirical findings with which to counter this thesis.
For him the surplus of labour was the result of the competi-
tiveness of contemporary capitalist society, and he brought
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this out in a number of separate but related themes. He
recognized that the introduction of new technology had a
significant impact on the creation of surplus labour; for
example, he described in some detail the effect of steam
machinery on the employment of sawyers and how it had
both reduced their numbers and income.?® But the effect
of the new technology was very limited in London as most
industries were labour-intensive; what Mayhew did trace
however was the impact of the industrial revolution of the
textile industry in Lancashire, for some of the labour dis-
placed found its way on to the London labour market.
One man who had become destitute gave Mayhew the
following account of his life:

“I am thirty-eight” he said, ‘‘and have been a cotton-spinner,
working at Chorlton-upon-Medlock. I can neither read nor
write. When I was a young man, twenty years ago, I could
earn £2 10s. clear money every week, after paying two piecers
and a scavenger. Each piecer had 7s. 6d. a week — they are
girls; the scavenger — a boy to clean the wheels of the cotton
spinning machine had 2s. 6d. I was master of them wheels in
the factory. This state of things continued until about the
year 1837. 1 lived well and enjoyed myself, being a hearty man,
noways a- drunkard, working every day from half-past five in
the morning till half-past seven at night — long hours that
time, master. I didn’t care about money as long as I was
decent and respectable. I had a turn for sporting at the wakes
down there. In 1837 the ‘self-actors’ (machines with steam
power) had come into common use. One girl can mind three
pairs — that used to be three men’s work — getting 15s. for
the work which gave three men £7 10s. Out of one factory
400 hands were flung in one week, men and women together.
We had a meeting of the union, but nothing could be done,
and we were told to go and mind the three pairs, as the girls
did, for 15s. a week. We wouldn’t do that. Some went for
soldiers, some to sea, some to Stopport (Stockport), to get
work in factories where the self-actors wer’nt agait.”28

The Luddite reaction to new technology becomes com-
pletely understandable, its beneficiaries at this time being
almost entirely the owners of factories and their like. The
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sawyers had destroyed the first mechanical mills in London
(these were run by horse-power but on the same principle
as the later steam mills), but had eventually succumbed to
the new technology.

Mayhew realized however that technology was not
the prime moving force in the early capitalist transforma-
tion of society, at least in the London area. Much more
important was the “extraction of labour-surplus™ through
changes in the organisation of what Marx called the social
relationships of production — in particular the develop-
ment of petty capitalism in various forms. Mayhew did not
of course analyse the course of events in such simple
analytical terms; he gave a much more descriptive account
of what he called the effects of the “competitive system”.
He analysed the increase of surplus labour under two head-
ings: the increase in the number of labourers and the
increase in the amount of labour extracted from an existing
labour force. He saw six ways of increasing the number of
labourers: “(1) By the undue increase of apprentices. (2) By
drafting into the ranks of labour those who should be other-
wise engaged, as women and children. (3) By the importa-
tion of labourers from abroad. (4) By the migration of
country labourers to towns, and so overcrowding the market
in the cities. (5) By the depression of other trades. (6) By the
undue increase of the people themselves.”? Three, four and
six are all direct effects of increasing population and belong
if you like to the “opposition argument”. One and two form
a part of Mayhew’s main argument (five is rather nebulous),
although he does not spell this out. He grouped the means
of increasing the amount of labour from a fixed labour
force under seven headings: “(1) By extra supervision when
the workmen are paid by the day . . . (2) By increasing the
workman’s interest in his work; as in piece work, where the
payment of the operative is made proportional to the
quantity of work done by him . . . (3) By large quantities of
work given out at one time; as in ‘lump-work’ and ‘contract
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work”. (4) By the domestic system of work, or giving out
materials to be made up at the homes of the workpeople.
(5) By the middleman system of labour. (6) By the preva-
lence of small master. (7) By a reduced rate of pay, as forc-
ing operatives to labour both longer and quicker, in order
to make up the same amount of income.”® Many of these
headings overlap as Mayhew himself was prepared to admit;
categories two to six all have a strong element of increasing
the capitalist principle into work situations, and in practice
the prevalence of the contract system and in particular the
growth of small masters (petty capitalists) seem to have
been most important, at least in Mayhew’s work. Headings
one and seven concern the control that employers were able
to exert over their work force, without having to go through
indirect market forces f(the distinction between employer
and employee becomes blurred of course in the case of the
small master — a more appropriate distinction here would
be between the rich capitalist and the poor worker who
actually provided the labour, under whatever relationship
of production).

That employers were able to extract enormous
amounts of extra labour through direct control was brought
out by Mayvhew in a number of places; perhaps the most
striking example was the “strapping system” in the car-
pentry and joinery trade:

Concerning this I received the following extraordinary account
from a man after his heavy day’s labour; and never in all my
experience have I seen so bad an instance of over-work. The
poor fellow was so fatigued that he could hardly rest in his
seat. As he spoke he sighed deeply and heavily, and appeared
almost spirit-broken with excessive labour: — “I work at what
is called the strapping shop,” he said, “and have worked at
nothing else for these many years past in London. I call ‘strap-
ping’, doing as much work as a human being or a horse
possibly can in a day, and that without any hanging upon the
collar, but with the foreman’s eyes constantly fixed upon you,
from six o’clock in the morning to six o’clock at night. The
shop in which I work is for all the world like a prison — the
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silent system is as strictly carried out there as in a model gaol.
If a man was to ask any common question of his neighbour,
except it was connected with his trade, he would be discharged
there and then. If a journeyman makes the least mistake, he
is packed off just the same. A man working in such places is
almost always in fear; for the most trifling things he is thrown
out of work in an instant . . . I suppose since I knew the
trade a man does four times the work that he did formerly . . .
What’s worse than that, the men are everyone striving one
against the other , . . They are all tearing along from the first
thing in the morning to the last thing at night, as hard as they
can go, and when the time comes to knock off they are ready
to drop. I was hours after I got home tast night before I could
get a wink of sleep; the soles of my feet were on fire, and my
arms ached to that degree that I could hardly lift my hand to
my head.”3!

The result of this terrible exploitation of labour was that
many joiners were “quite old men and gray with spectacles
on, by the time they are forty.”?2

It is easy now to understand current trade union
practices which regulate and control the amount of work
to be done independently of the “logic of production.”
Trade unions were of course active during the whole of the
nineteenth century and we must ask why they were unable
to prevent the extreme conditions described above. This. is
perhaps the crucial question that Mayhew never answered
in his discussion of political-economy, yet the answer to
such a question is to be found in his own survey. Unions
had been very active in the protection of living standards
and working conditions, even when they had not achieved
legal recognition. One boot-maker described the strike of
1812 which resulted in victory for the union:

The masters, at that time, after holding out for thirteen weeks,
gave way, vielding to all the demands of the men. “The scabs
had no chance in those days,” said my informant, “the wages
men had it all their own way; they could do anything, and
there were no slop shops then. Some scabs went to Mr. Hoby
‘occasioning’ (that is asking whether he ‘had occasion for
another hand’), but he said to them. ‘I can do nothing; go to



19

my masters (the journeymen) in the Parr’s Head, Swallow-
street’ (the sign of the public-house used by the men that
managed the strike).””33

The key to the success of unions at this time was provided
by another of Mayhew’s informants :

1 believe the reduction of wages in our trade is due chiefly to
the supra-abundance of workmen; that is the real cause of
our prices having gone down, because when men are scarce,
or work is plentiful, they will have good wages. From the year
1798 our wages began to increase partly because the number
of hands was decreased by war, and partly because the foreign
orders were much greater then than now.34

After the Napoleonic wars labour flooded back onto the
market, and with population doubling in the first half of
the nineteenth century, the supply of labour greatly began
to exceed its demand. This of course is a highly complex
question, much debated by economists, sociologists and
historians, the critical element in the debate being the
balance between supply and demand for labour, and its
relationship with the distribution of real resources within
an early capitalist economy. Another boot-maker put this
very simply when he told Mayhew:
The cause of the trade being so overstocked with hands is,
I believe, due in great measure to the increase of population.
Every pair of feet there is born, certainly wants a pair of
shoes; but unfortunately, as society is at present constituted,

they cannot get them. The poor, you see, sir increase at a
greater rate than the rich.35

Several of Mayhew’s artisan informants showed a remark-
ably good grasp of basic economics, and one or two even
anticipated Marx and Keynes in their understanding of the
effects of under-consumption on the capitalist economy.
One man believed in particular that the new technology
would have disastrous effects on the economy :

Suppose, I say, that o/l human labour is done away by it, and

the working men are turned into paupers and criminals, then
what I want to know is who are to be the customers of the
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capitalists? The capitalists themselves, we should remember,
spend little or none (comparatively speaking) of the money
they get; for, of course, it is the object of every capitalist to
save all he can, and so increase the bulk of money out of
which he makes his profits. The working men, howevér, spend
all they receive —it’s true a small amount is put into the
savings bank, but that’s a mere drop in the ocean; and so the
working classes constitute the great proportion of the cus-
tomers of the country. The lower their wages are reduced
of course the less they have to spend, and when they are
entirely superseded by machinery, of course they’ll have noth-
ing at all to spend, and then, I ask again, who are to be the
capitalists’ customers? 36

These dire predictions did not come to full realization
in the hundred years or so after they were made, and
this was partly because the industrial revolution had
brought about an improvement of average living stan-
dards after the 1840’s, mainly through a fall in prices.
A number of informants told Mayhew how the fall
in prices of bread, meat, fruit and vegetables, clothing
and other goods, had improved their lot from the mid-
1840’s onwards, and this was due to a number of factors —
new technology, railways, more efficient farming —and -
undoubtedly this development was the great turning point
in the history of capitalism. There were of course many
other factors that prevented the pauperization of the work-
ing classes predicted by Marx — perhaps one of the most
important being the development of specialization and the
growth of the division of labour, which enabled the
labour force through their unions to exploit the dependency
of employers on small numbers of key workers. At the time
that Mayhew wrote however, there was little evidence of
this development, and the unions were weak and the mass
of the population in a pauperized state.

What Mayhew failed to realize was the importance
of the rate of expansion of the population for the conditions
under which the struggle between capital and labour was
conducted. (I assume here that population was expanding
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for other than economic reasons, and was primarily a func-
tion of medical and other non-economic factors.?”) Through-
out his survey there is constant mention of a massive surplus
of labour demanding work which was not there to be had;*
this enabled employers to ruthlessly crush strikes and union
activity, either by employing blackleg labour, or by sending
work into non-unionized sectors and areas of the country.
What Mayhew did realize was that this surplus of labour
enabled employers to extract even further surpluses through
the modes of exploitation discussed above — formulated by
Mayhew in the phrase, “Over-work makes under-pay, and
under-pay makes over-work.”® A surplus of population did
not operate in a vacuum, it was employed within a certain
social relationship of production, and this could be crucial
for the development of the economy. In the case of London
during the middle of the nineteenth century, it was the
growth of petty-capitalism that was crucial. This took many
guises — sub-contracting, chamber-masters, sweaters, etc. —
but the critical development was the exploitation of labour
through a system of production which gave workers a per-
sonal but minimal interest in profitability. i

A cabinet-maker gave the following explanation of
why so many men became small capitalists working on their
own account:

One of the inducements . . . for men to take for making up
for themselves is to get a living when thrown out of work
until they can hear of something better . . . Another of the
reasons for the men turning small masters is the little capital
that it requires for them to start themselves . . . Many works
for themselves, because nobody else won’t employ them, their
work is so bad. Many weavers has took to our business of
late . . . Another reason for men turning little masters is
because employment’s more certain like that way; a man can’t
be turned off easily, you see, when he works for himself.
Again, some men prefer being small masters because they are
more independent like; when they’re working for themselves,
they can begin working when they please, and knock off when-
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ever they like. But the principal reason is because there ain’t
enough work at the regular shops to employ them all.40

Theése small masters were drawn into a system of ruthless
competition, and the money paid to them by the ware-
houses — the “slaughterers” — became barely sufficient for
subsistence. Many of the chamber-masters were sweaters,
employing their wives and children and any other source of
cheap labour, but none of them were real beneficiaries from
the long and grinding hours of work — it was the owners of
the warehouses and their customers who really gained from
this system of exploitation. The major reason why so many
small masters were prepared to tolerate these conditions
was because there was no alternative — a surplus of labour
through a rapidly-expanding population had thrown them
out of regular work and into pauperized independence,
which in turn helped destroy the power of the trade unions
in the “honourable” sector of the trade.

Although Mayhew failed to link population growth
with the changes in the structure ‘of the social relationships
of production which he so effectively described, he pro-
vided in his survey nearly all that we would want to know
to understand the development of contemporary capitalism.
However, his survey went well beyond the confines of this
major theme, and to the sociologist, his work provides a
range of fascinating detail on other sociological subjects.
One theme that constantly recurs is the growth of a culture
of respectability during the nineteenth century, a subject
which obviously fascinated Mayhew. There are frequent
mentions in the survey of the decline in drunkenness and
brutality which characterized many English workmen of
an earlier epoch; here is Mayhew’s interview with a cabinet-
maker on the subject of respectability :

“Within my recollection,” said an intelligent cabinet-maker,
“there was much drinking, among the cabinet-makers. This
was fifteen years back. Now I am satisfied that at least seven-
eighths of all who are in society are sober and temperate men.
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Indeed, good masters won’t have tipplers now-a-days.” . . .
The great' majority of the cabinet-makers are married men,
and were described to me by the best informed parties as
generally domestic men, living, whenever it was possible, near
their workshops, and going home to every meal. They are not
much of play-goers, a Christmas pantomime or any holiday
spectacle being exceptions, especially where thére is a family.
“I don’t know a card-player,” said a man who had every
means of knowing, ‘“‘amongst us, I think you’ll find more
cabinet-makers than any other trade members of mechanics’
institutes and literary institutions and attenders of lectures.”
Some journeymen cabinet-makers have saved money, and I
found them all speak highly of the advantages they, as well as
their masters, derive from their trade society.4!

These respectable artisans were of course only a minority
of the total of working people; we saw earlier how the
members of the “honourable” west end trade lived very
different lives to those of the east end. The respectable
artisans were family men, living quiet private lives, markedly
in contrast with the life of the “rough” working class, which
was violent, noisy and gregarious. Mayhew had a deeply
ambivalent attitude towards respectability; on the one hand
he admired the “rational” sobrietry, cleanliness and cul-
tured life-style of his intelligent artisans, yet on the other
was greatly attracted to the spontaneity and colour of his
street folk, vagabonds, delinquents, labourers and other
unrespectable inhabitants of London. The intelligence of
the respectable artisan enabled him to take an active interest
in union and political matters, whereas the unskilled work-
men tended to passively acquiese in the miseries of his lot:

The transition from the artisan to the labourer is curious in
many respects. In passing from the skilled operative of the
West End to the unskilled workman of the Eastern quarter of
London, the moral and intellectual change is so great that it
seems as if we were in a new land and among another race.
The artisans are sufficiently educated and thoughtful to have
a sense of their importance in the state . . . The unskilled
labourers are a different class of people. As yet they are as
unpolitical as footmen. Instead of entertaining violently demo-
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cratic opinions, they appear to have no political opinions
whatever —or, if they do possess any, they rather lean
towards the maintenance ‘of things as they are,” than
towards the ascendancy of the working people.42

Not only were the unskilled unpolitical, but they tended to
be more addicted to violence, drunkenness and dishonesty
than the rest of the population, Mayhew finding from
official statistical returns of crime that the labourers of
London were “nine times as dishonest, five times as
drunken, and nine times as savage, as the rest of the
community.”*3

What Mayhew most disliked about the unrespect-
able however was the dirt and squalor in which they lived;
in discussing the importance of fish in the diet of the poor —
the railway had ushered in an era of very cheap fish in
London — he wrote:

The rooms of the very neediest of our needy metropolitan
population, always smell of fish; most frequently of herrings.
So much so, indeed, that to those, like myself, have been in the
habit of visiting their dwellings, the smell of herrings, even in
comfortable houses, savours from asSociation, so strongly of
squalor and wretchedness as to be often most oppressive.44

This echoes the passage quoted earlier, which contrasted the
west end tailor’s comfortable apartment with flowers and
pictures, and “the sweater’s wretched garret . . . rank with
the stench of filth and herrings.” Mayhew believed that the
poor of the east end were “brutified with their incessant
toil, wretched pay, miserable food, and filthy homes”, and
in a number of places in his survey he uses strong moral
language to condemn what he considered to be the vices of
the unrespectable poor. Listen to the following account
of the lives of pickpockets and note the mixture of moral
disapproval and insightful sociological and psychological
analysis :

It is a singular fact that as a body the pickpockets are
generally very sparing of drink. My informant never knew
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any one of these young pickpockets or ‘“‘gonoffs’” to be drunk,
or to seem in any way anxious for drink. They are mostly
libidinous, indeed universally so, and spend whatever money
they can spare upon the low prostitution. round about the
neighbourhood . . . Nor can their vicious propensities be
ascribed to ignorance, for we have seen that out of 55 indi-
viduals 40 could read and write, while four could read . . .
Neither can the depravity of their early associations be named
as the cause of their delinquencies for we have seen that,
as a class, their fathers are men well to do in the world.
Indeed their errors seem to have rather a physical than either
an intellectual or moral cause. They seem to be naturally of
an - erratic and self-willed temperament, objecting to the re-
straints of home, and incapable of continuous application to
any one occupation whatsoever. They are essentiaily the idle
and the vagabond; and they seem generally to attribute the
commencement of their career to harsh government at home.45

Much of this account could be applied to Mayhew him-
self — his own reaction against parental authority, his
“erratic and self-willed temperament”, and his restlessness.
Although current sociological fashion is against the kind of
physiological explanation of delinquency given by Mayhew,
there is probably as much evidence in its favour as with rival
more widely accepted theories.
The delinquents were rebels, but rebels with energy,
intelligence, humour and a love of life. It is these qualities
which inform some of Mayhew’s best-known work, the writ-
ing on street entertainers, costermongers, tricksters and the
host of other colourful characters which fill his pages.
Listen to the marvellous account of one of the many tricks
played on a gullible public:
I’'ve done the shivering dodge too-— gone out in the cold
weather half naked: One man has practised it so much that he
can’t get off shivering now. Shaking Jemmy went on with his
shivering so long that he couldn’t help it at last. He shivered
like a jelly — like a calf’s foot with the ague — on the hottest
day in summer.46

And some of Mayhew’s characters are so close in language to

Dickens, that the reader finds himself unconsciously carried
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from one to the other. One of the Punch and Judy men told
Mayhew:

One of my pardners was buried by the workhouse; and even
old Pike, the most noted showman as ever was, died in the
workhouse. Pike and Porsini — Porsini was the first original
street Punch, and Pike was his apprentice — their names is
handed down to prosperity among the noblemen and footmen
of the land. They both died in the workhouse, and, in course,
I shall do the same. Something else might turn up, to be sure.
We can’t say what this luck of the world is. I'm obliged to
strive wery hard — wery hard indeed, sir— now, to get a
living, and then not get it after all at times — compelled to go
short often.47

The comic quality of the language conceals of course the
real suffering of the street performers — Mayhew met a
street clown on the verge of starvation, minutes afterwards
transformed into an apparently happy and laughing per-
former® — but their human quality shines through their
sufferings, and there is almost something moving in the
quaintness of their language.

Mayhew was acutely aware of how sociological
factors influenced the adoption of respectability or its op-
posite; he gave a great deal of space for example to the
effects of the system of paying wages in public-houses to
men working in the coal-unloading trade. For many years
it had led to widespread drunkenness and brutality — many
men beating their wives because of disputes over the spend-
ing of money on drink —and Mayhew summarized the
effects of the system in the following passage :

The children of the coalwhippers were almost reared in the
tap-room, and a person who had great experience in the trade
tells me he knew as many as 500 youths who were transported,
and as many more who met with an untimely death. At one
house there were forty young robust men employed about
seventeen years ago, and of these are only two living at present.
My informant tells me that he has frequently seen as many as
100 men at one time fighting pell-mell at King James’s stairs,
and the publican standing by to see fair play.4
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Similarly amongst dockers the irregularity of work and
income led to “irregularity of habits” — drunkenness, vio-
lence and the squandering of money.® In the last resort,
Mayhew’s sympathy for the poor was so great that it over-
rode his own middle class prejudices. In a number of places
he observed that morality was very different when viewed
from the perspective of middle class comfort as against the
realities of life amongst the poor:

It is easy enough to be moral after a good dinner beside a
snug sea-coal fire, and with our hearts well warmed with fine
old port. It is easy enough for those that can enjoy these
things daily to pay their poor-rates, rent their pew, and “love
their neighbours as themselves”; but place the self-same highly
respectable people on a raft without sup or bite on the high
sea, and they would toss up who should eat their fellows . . .
Morality on £5000 a year in Belgrave-square, is a very different
thing to morality on slop-wages in Bethnal-green.5!

In his speech to the tailors at a special public meeting on
the 28th October, 1850, explaining his reasons for with-
drawing from The Morning Chronicle, he passionately
denounced the inequities of contemporary capitalist society,
and perhaps came nearest to a socialist ethic and philosophy.
He subsequently went on to write London Labour and the
London Poor, some of which included part of his Morning
Chronicle material. After this work, he fell into oblivion
and obscurity. The poor seemed to bring out the very best
of Mayhew; without them, his work sunk back into the
rather pedestrian satirical plays and novels written for a
middle class reading public (T he Morning Chronicle survey
was read by a wide range of social classes®?).

The very best of Mayhew was the material he col-
lected on the lives of the poor, “from the lips of the people
themselves”. The range and depth of these autobiographies
is so brilliant, that no amount of commentary can even
come near to their quality and importance. Mayhew opened
up a new history of the English people in this part of his
work, as his informants had come from all parts of the
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country and spanned the complete age range. The reader
has to read the survey itself to appreciate this part of his
work. Dances and music at the harvest celebrations, vaga-
bond life in the countryside and its pleasures and hardships,
the problems of a country linen-draper, the harshness of
convict life in Australia — the floggings and killings — the
brutal conditions on board ship for emigrants (but not con-
victs — these were protected by their military escort), the
meekness and deference of some of the poor, suffering the
worst of all poverties, the colour prejudice experienced by
an Indian street entertainer — this and a host of other sub-
jects are covered in what we would now consider the begin-
nings of oral history. Mayhew died in July 1887, forgotten
and unknown; he is now recognized as one of the great
pioneers of sociological study, but above all, he was a man
of deep sympathy and compassion for the suffering of the
poor.

Peter Razzell
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CHAPTER 1:
INTRODUCTION

In 1657, Thomas Plume, Archdeacon of Rochester, wrote about
Shakespeare: “He was a glover’s son — Sir John Mennis saw once his old
Father in his shop —a merry Cheekd old man — that said — Will was a good
Honest Fellow, but he durst have crackt a jeast with him at any time.”’t
This description of Shakespeare’s relationship with his father, is virtually
the only direct personal account that has come down to us, and
tantalisingly, illuminates a small fragment of Shakespeare’s enigmatic
biography. The major aim of this book is to unravel this enigma: to reveal
the private face behind the public image, and to discover the person
obscured by literary mythology. This can be viewed as “‘a quest for
Shakespeare” — unravelling a series of strands which bring us nearer to an
understanding of the man and the major events which shaped his life and
writing.

The relationship which had the most influence on him, and had the
greatest impact on his writing, was that with his father, John Shake-
speare. The first half of the book will be about John Shakespeare —
including his relationship with his son — and the central thesis of this part
of the book can be stated as follows: the character of John Falstaff was
based directly on Shakespeare’s father, helping to explain not only key
events in John Shakespeare’s life, but also critical experiences in
Shakespeare’s own biography. Not only does this thesis help illuminate
the Falstaff plays — The Merry Wives Of Windsor, Henry IV, Parts 1 & 2
and Henry V, but also a number of the other works, including Hamlet.
The second half of the book will focus on Shakespeare’s own life
independently of his father’s — but even here, 1 will argue, John
Shakespeare cast a long shadow over his son’s life, including a history of
alcoholism.
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Although all the documentary evidence for a biography of Shake-
speare and his father will be scrutinized in careful detail, and this will be
supplemented wherever appropriate by evidence from the plays and
poems, one additional major source of evidence will be used: that derived
from sociological research. This has been carried out in the belief - along
with C.Wright Mills — that the “sociological imagination’ has a crucial
role in explaining personal biography. Elements of economic and social
history have been used by previous biographers of Shakespeare, but this
has not been done in a systematic fashion. Much new work has been
carried out in the last few years, using a more sociological approach to
history, and this can illuminate biography, sometimes in quite a vivid
way. For example, Shakespeare married Anne Hathaway when he was -
eighteen and she was twenty-six. Previous biographers have thought of
her as an “older woman” — yet recent research has shown that the average
age of first marriage of women in rural areas surrounding Stratford was
about twenty-five, whereas the average age for men in Stratford was
twenty-seven. From this we can conclude that it was not so much that
Anne Hathaway was an “older woman”, but rather that Shakespeare was
a “younger man”, compared to his contemporaries marrying during the
same period.

This is a relatively minor example of the use of a sociological
perspective, and a further example will help illustrate a more major
theme. Shakespeare has always been thought of as coming from a narrow
provincial background, which has been one of the difficulties in accepting
his authorship of the plays. His father is known to have been a glover and
probably a butcher at one stage of his career. The idea that the man who
wrote some of the greatest plays ever written, should have been the son of
a butcher — and even apprenticed to that butcher —~ just seemed too
unbelievable to some Shakespeare admirers. I will be arguing later that
this represents a misunderstanding of Shakespeare’s Stratford experi-
ence; but more importantly, it was not realised until recently, that John
Shakespeare was not merely a Stratford artisan, but in fact was a trader
operating on a large scale, buying and speculating in a number of
commodities (including the lending of money), and operating over a wide
geographical area, including London.

This type of trading activity — designated by Everitt as ‘““individual free
trading” — gave rise to a particular way of life, with distinct and separate
cultural values. In particular, these traders were highly cosmopolitan and
lived not only in a provincial world, but operated in a metropolitan
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cultural setting. This helps to explain how Shakespeare came to acquire
the cultural knowledge which enabled him to write plays of such universal
appeal. But this conclusion can only be reached by examining a great deal
of economic and social historical evidence, as will be the case with a
number of the other themes in the book. At times, it will be necessary to
switch from the realm of the personal and the biographical, to a more
abstract sociological level, but in every case, the discussion of detailed
economic and social historical evidence will lead to a greater understand-
ing of Shakespeare’s life and work.

Although a sociological perspective is central, much of the book is
devoted to Shakespeare’s more personal development. This has been
undertaken through a careful examination of the known documentary
material, linked to a textual analysis of a number of the plays. The linkage
between biography and textual analysis is necessarily speculative and
clearly must be approached with great caution, if only to avoid the
imaginative but fanciful and untestable speculations that have marred
much Shakespeare scholarship. Such a linkage can only be justified if it
illuminates a major and central aspect of Shakespeare’s life and work,
while at the same time following the documentary and textual evidence in
rigorous detail.

Far too many works on Shakespeare have been marred by excessive
idealisation of their subject, illustrated by the recent tendency to use the
Chandos portrait, rather than the well-attested Folio illustration or the
bust of Shakespeare placed in Stratford Church by his wife and
daughters. One critic complained that the latter made Shakespeare look
like a ““self-satisfied pork butcher”; the fact that his father was probably a
butcher (among other occupations), and that Shakespeare was appren-
ticed to his father, seemed to have escaped this critic. For such scholars,
the Shakespeare that they venerate, must appear as a figure matching his
literary stature — perhaps understandable in an age when most of our
traditional “‘gods” have been found wanting. And it is perhaps for this
same reason, that the move to deny Shakespeare’s authorship of the plays
(in spite of overwhelming evidence to the contrary) has flourished.
Although some of this is a form of class snobbery — how could a butcher’s
son and apprentice write such great works of art? — I will be arguing (as we
have seen above), that Shakespeare’s background was much more
cosmopolitan that previously realised.

A good biography must include “warts and all”, but excessive
denigration is just as undesirable as excessive idealisation: any biography
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of Shakespeare must scrupulously follow the known documentary, legal
and oral-historical evidence. Where the plays are used as a source of
evidence — as they are in this book —it is important that material selected
is used systematically, and not just in isolated fashion to buttress a
particular case. It is for this reason that I have quoted extensively, and
often verbatim from the plays and poems, allowing the material as much
as possible, to speak for itself.

It could be argued that it is an error to assumethat the plays can be used
as a source of biographical material, when in fact they were written for a
public and commercial audience. It could be further argued that the plays
were a product of historical, cultural, political, literary, psychological and
philosophical forces of such complexity, that they do not lend themselves
to biographical analysis. It is self-evidently true that Shakespeare’s plays
are highly complex in their origin, with innumerable factors shaping their
content and nature. But this should not deter us from focussing on
particular aspects of the work; no analysis or criticism would be possible
without specialist focus, and if at times this involves discussing material
out of context, this can be justified if it adds to our understanding of the
author and his work. Of course characters in the plays are not real people
and they were put there by Shakespeare mainly for dramatic purposes,
but I hope to show that particular plays were of special autobiographical
significance, and that certain characters — in particular Falstaff — were of
central importance in Shakespeare’s own life. This does not mean that
there can be any literal translation of character into biographical reality,
but it does mean that certain characters can reveal important truths about
awriter’s life, and if taken in this spirit, can illuminate the authorboth as a
man and a writer.

From Ben Jonson onwards, critics of Shakespeare’s work have noted
the imaginative, free-flowing quality of the plays, with frequent errors of
historical fact and logical inconsistencies in plot and structure. Many of
the plays have an almost dream-like quality, and can be seen (to use
Freud’s phrase) as “over-determined”, with multiple determinants of
content, including a biographical dimension. In some instances, this has
been widely ackowledged; for example the “little eyases’ passage in the
Folio edition of Hamlet, which is universally recognized as a reference to
the influence of the children’s theatre. It is a good example of how
Shakespeare used material of personal significance, and introduced it
into the texture of the play, as if it were an intrinsic part of the drama. This
only becomes obvious where the material is of a relatively public nature,
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and it becomes more difficult to recognize passages of private personal
significance, particularly where the material is “unconscious”, although
we tread on notoriously dangerous ground with this potentially lethal
concept. One of the characteristics of Shakespeare’s work is that he will
often take a theme — for example the issue of the morality of pre- marital
conception in Measure For Measure — and work it, and re- work it,
through various characters and sub-plots: and very often these thematic
repetitions are of autobiographical significance.

Unfortunately, Freud, Ernest Jones and other psychoanalysts writing
on Shakespeare, applied the psychoanalytical method purely spec-
ulatively, and in such a manner as to make any empirical evaluation
difficult. Although the psychological analysis of a particular theme in a
dramatic work is sometimes productive, it is necessary to assess the effect
of other factors which might account for the phenomenon in question.
For example, the character of Falstaff is largely an invention of
Shakespeare’s, and not a reflection in detail of a known historical or
literary character, but this conclusion can only be reached through an
examination of the historical and literary evidence. This cautionary
process is well-understood, being so near to self-evident common-sense,
but it is not so well-understood from the other side, i.e. the importance of
checking purely literary and historical conclusions against psychological
considerations. An important example perhaps of this is the question of
the date on which Hamlet was written. There has been much scholarship
and analysis of historical and literary source material, but as far as I know,
no detailed discussion of an important psychological fact, the date of
Shakespeare’s father’s death, and how this might fit into the known
chronology of the writing of the play.

An appeal to examine all forms of empirical evidence in testing ideas
will command universal assent, but some of the speculation in this book
will predictably provoke a critical response. The justification for specula-
tion exists where it is possible to test at least part of the ideas through
further historical research. Much speculation takes place tacitly, with
biographers decrying the validity of using the plays as a source of
biographical material, and then proceeding to do just that, albeit in a
piecemeal rather than a systematic fashion. Random historical and
empirical research is unlikely to throw up much new material on
Shakespeare’s life, whereas the systematic search for material directed by
particular hypotheses may well lead to important discoveries.
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An example of this is the oral tradition of Shakespeare poaching deer
from Sir Thomas Lucy; this tradition has been viewed with scepticism by
some Shakespeare biographers, largely on the ground that there is no
evidence that Sir Thomas Lucy owned a deer park at the time. But an
examination of the plays makes it clear how important this incident was to
Shakespeare (references to killing deer are to be found in eighteen of the
plays). Because of this, a detailed search was made for further evidence,
resulting in the discovery of much new important material. I will argue
that being caught and punished for this, had a profound effect on his
subsequent development, particularly in leading to his exile from
Stratford and creating the reaction against his youthful wildness. Much of
this new evidence is on deer parks owned by Sir Thomas Lucy, and
although highly detailed and at times quite technical, I hope this will
make a substantive contribution to Shakespeare biography. \

This example of the poaching tradition also illustrates one major
weakness in existing Shakespeare scholarship: many biographers have
been primarily interested in the literary aspect of Shakespeare’s life, and
as a result have tended to take a “‘metropolitan” view, and therefore been
somewhat disdainful of the oral tradition, which has invariably been
locally based. (It is perhaps for this reason that there has been no
definitive scholarly study of the history of Stratford- on-Avon — all the
more remarkable when we remember the vast amount of material which
has been collected on the town, lending itself eminently to new historical
techniques and methods of research.) Malone was a major example of
this, listing the various errors he believed that Rowe had made in his
biography based mainly on oral sources. In fact, Rowe has stood the test
of subsequent scholarship remarkably well, in particular with his
knowledge of John Shakespeare’s occupation as a wool dealer, his
information on Shakespeare’s wife’s maiden name, and I will be arguing
in this book, his description of the young Shakespeare’s poaching
activities. Many scholars have on general grounds decried the value of the
oral tradition, and then have proceeded to smuggle it into their argument
to buttress a particular thesis. Given the paucity of information on
Shakepeare’s life, a general principle for the use of the oral evidence — at
least that which derived from living memory — should be that it is to be
treated as valid, until proved otherwise.

That the oral tradition could span iong periods is shown by Richard
Gough’s vivid recollections on the lives of the people of the village of
Myddle, Shropshire, written at the end of the seventeenth century, and
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published in The History Of Myddle.2 Gough in his accounts of individual
families, occasionally spanned a period of nearly two hundred years,
showing that at least for a village in Shropshire, the oral tradition was very
strong indeed. And Gough’s delightful language gives us historical insight
into the cultural world that helped shape Shakespeare. Those who find it
difficult to believe that Shakespeare could have written the plays, do not
understand the richness of this oral tradition, which can be documented
from at least Gough through to Henry Mayhew and beyond. In fact, I
would argue, it is difficult to imagine the plays being written by anyone
not educated in this tradition, and this is particularly true with respect to
the great popular comic characters, such as Falstaff.

Bold hypotheses following known evidence are not in themselves
sufficient: for an idea to be worthwhile it must be testable through future
documentary research. It is the nature of this book, that it lends itself to
detailed factual scrutiny, particularly with respect to the character and
nature of John Shakespeare’s associates in later life. For example, John
Shakespeare’s two friends and associates John Audley and Thomas
Cooley, acting for surety for John Shakespeare and each other in the
Queen’s Bench Court in 1580 — further research on these two figures will
shed considerable light on John Shakespeare’s character and behaviour.
Hopefully, there are a number of ideas in this book which will lend
themselves to critical scrutiny, so that the book’s conclusions will be open
to future evaluation. Whether or not subsequent research validates all
clements of this book, it is hoped it will make a stimulating and
provocative contribution to Shakespeare scholarship. In the last resort,
the interest of the book will derive from all our fascination with the man
who produced some of the greatest written works of art in the English
language. If it adds to our understanding of the man and his work, it will
be worthwhile.



CHAPTER 2:
THE RISE OF JOHN SHAKESPEARE

Other than the sole brief contemporary description of John Shakespeare,
the evidence for his biography is exclusively documentary. Halliday has
summarized this evidence in his Shakespeare Companion, as follows:

“‘Shakespeare, John (d.1601), son of Richard Shakespeare, and the poet’s
father must have left Snitterfield sometime before 1552, when he is first
mentioned in the Stratford records, he, Humphrey Reynolds and Adrian
Quiney each being fined 12d. for making a dunghillin Henley Street, where
presumably he was living. In a suit of 1556 he is first called a ‘glover’, a trade
he followed until at least 1586, when he again appears as a glover; he did not
sign his name, but made his mark, sometimes in the form of a pair of
glovers’ dividers. He also traded in barley, timber and wool, and possibly
other commodities. In other documents he is styled ‘yeoman’, that is, aman
of substance under the degree of gentleman. The twenty years of 1556-1576
are years of prosperity:

1556. Buys two houses; the ‘Woolshop’ in Henley Street and another in
Greenhill Street.

1557. Marries Mary Arden, daughter of his father’s landlord at Snitterfield.
1558. Birth of his first child, Joan. (Six other children were born 1562-74,
and Edmund in 1580.)

1557-62. Successively borough constable, affeeror (assessor of fines), and
chamberlain.

1561. Administers his father’s estate.

1564. Birth of William Shakespeare.

1565. Alderman; 1568 Bailiff (mayor); 1571 Chief Alderman and J.P.
1575. Buys two more houses; sites unknown, but probably the Birthplace,
and an adjoining house to the west, destroyed in the fire of 1594.

The twenty yeats of 1576-96 appear to be years of adversity.

1577. He ceases to attend council meetings.

1578-9. Mortgages his wife’s Wilmcote property, lets Asbies, and sells her
share in the Snitterfield estate.

1580. Fined £40 for failing to appear before the court of Queen’s Bench to
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give security that he would keep the peace.

1586. Replaced by another Alderman because ‘Mr Shaxpere dothe not
come to the halles when they be warned, nor hathe not done of long tyme’.
1587. Sued for part of the debt of his brother Henry.

1592. Included in a list of recusants ‘for not cominge monthlie to the
churche . . . Itissayd . . . for feare of processe for debtte’.

His fortunes are restored 1596-1601 probably by the poet:

1596. The Grant of Arms.

1597. His son William buys New Place. Attempts to recover the mortgaged
estate from John Lambert.

1599. Applies for leave to impale the arms of Arden.

1601. Again appears as a member of the borough council. On 8 September,
‘Mr Johannes Shakepeare’ was buried in Stratford churchyard.”!

Very little has been added to our knowledge of John Shakespeare since
Halliday wrote the above, except for a recent and very important
discovery about his economic activities, made by D.L.Thomas and
N.E.Evans and published in 1984. This will be discussed in some detail
later, but the scale of John Shakespeare’s transactions — he made loans of
£180 in 1568, and bought wool worth £210 in 1571 — sharpens the enigma
which has fascinated all scholars familiar with Shakespeare’s father’s
biography: the sudden transition in status from prosperous, successful,
and respectable Stratford burgher to impoverished corporation and
church absentee. As Thomas and Evans have written in the light of their
findings about his prosperity in the early 1570’s: ““All the more surprising
then, is his fall from public position later in the 1570’s. Having attained
the highest elective office that Stratford had to offer, John Shakespeare
withdrew from borough life after 1576; he ceased attending meetings of
the council and was ultimately removed from his position as alderman. At
the same time, he got into debt and sold land. His decline was dramatic
but is as yet unexplained.”2

* * *

In order to analyse this dramatic decline we must first examine John
Shakespeare’s economic history in as great a detail as the documentary
evidence will allow. It has already been noted that his main trade was that
of glover, and it is this occupational description that is applied to him in
most contemporary records. (He is also described as a “whittawer” —
defined as someone who turns skins into white leather.) However, he was
also a dealer in wool and a moneylender, as well as someone who bought
and sold timber, barley, and according to Lee, sheep, skins, meat and
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leather.3 The documentary record is confirmed by Shakespeare’s earliest
biographers, Aubrey and Rowe, who deriving information from local
Stratford inhabitants, wrote that John Shakespeare had been a dealer in
wool (Rowe) and a butcher (Aubrey).

In retrospect, Shakespeare’s father’s multiplicity of activities should
not surprise us; Stratford had grown up as an agricultural marketing
town, serving a wide area of midland towns and surrounding counties,
stretching through Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Staffordshire,
Cheshire, Lancashire, Shropshire and Wales.# Nearly all agricultural
products were traded through the town —corn, seed, horses, cattle, and as
we shall see later most importantly of all, barley and malt.> Other than
the production of malt, the making of gloves and related products was
probably the most important manufacturing activity in the Elizabethan
and early Stuart period. The trade flourished during the late sixteenth
century, culminating in the formation of the Glovers and Whittawers
Company in 1606¢; glovers occupied the most prominent position on
market days, and some of the most eminent members of the corporation
were glovers.” But focussing on John Shakespeare’ trade as a glover, is
quite misleading. As Lee has written about Stratford : “Small farmers
lived there in number, and . . . they dealt in all the products yielded by
the cultivation of land and stock. Thus, in 1597 George Perry, of
Stratford, was described -as engaging in, ‘besides his glover’s trade,
buying and selling of wool and corn, and making of malt’.”’8 And as Lee
further points out, John Shakespeare cultivated far more land than the
majority of his neighbours, having inherited land from his father in
Snitterfield (the exact amount is not clear), as well as leasing fourteen
acres of land called Ingon Meadow in 1570, and owning substantial land —
about 86 acres — in nearby Wilmcote through his wife Mary’s inheritance.

In order to understand John Shakespeare’s economic situation, we
must analyze it in the context of the very radical changes that were taking
place in English society at the time. Population had begun to increase at
the end of the fifteenth century, and by the middle of the sixteenth
century was expanding very rapidly — probably largely due to the
progressive elimination of the plague from the countryside. Wrigley and
Schofield have estimated that population increased from 2,773,851 in
1541t0 4,011,563 in 1601: an increase of forty-five per cent.? According to
their figures, the population grew most rapidly in the periods 1546-1556
and 1561- 1586, and this growth was associated with a rapid increase in the
prices of agricultural produce. This can be illustrated by the changes in
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the price of wheat at Exeter, for which there is a series going back to the
year 1316. Looking at the price by half-century, it was stable for the two
hundred-year period 1316-1499, varying between 6.9 and 6.21 shillings a
quarter; in 1500-49 it increased slightly to 8.28 —and then in the following
half-century, 1550-99, it jumped dramatically to 22.72, and continued to
increase in 1600-49 to 37.81, before stabilizing again in 1650-99 at 39.52,.10
Most of this increase was probably due to a growth of demand resulting
from expanding population, although the influx of silver and the
debasement of the coinage probably also played a part.

Overall, between the beginning and the end of the sixteenth century,
the price of grain rose sixfold and cattle and sheep by five times —the latter
being typical of an increase in the prices of a basket of twenty-five
consumer goods during the same period.!! Prices of most products rose
steadily throughout the whole of the sixteenth century, although there
were some variations in particular decades. Cattle and sheep prices
increased steadily and progressively throughout the whole of the
sixteenth century, and this was also largely true of the products that John
Shakespeare was trading in: wool and sheepskins. The latter had jumped
in price in the 1560’s — more than doubling in a decade — but continued to
rise steadily thereafter; the former moved more erratically, and can best
be charted by the following indices (1450-99 = 100): 1540-49: 153;
1550-59: 206; 1560-69: 205; 1570-79: 234; 1580-89: 225; 1590- 99: 315.12
Wool prices were not only affected by domestic demand, but also by
exports, and although the latter probably fell during the 1560s, they
increased by about ten per cent in the next decade, changes reflected in
the price of wool. There is no indication in these figures that John
Shakespeare’s economic problems were due to falling prices and a lack of
demand for wool; on the contrary, the decade when he ran into
difficulties — the 1570’s — wool prices rose by over fourteen per cent.

The increase in population and the general level of prices led both
directly and indirectly to a sharp polarization in the distribution of
wealth, with some groups becoming very much richer and others poorer —
with an additional growth in the absolute numbers of the poor. That this
polarization did not become more extreme was largely due to the
innovation in farming methods. It is a matter of controversy as to whether
these changes constituted an ‘“‘agricultural revolution”, but there is
general agreement that grain yields did increase, largely through the
application of convertible husbandry, involving a mix of arable and
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pastoral farming. As a result, yields are estimated as having increased by
30% between 1450 and 1650.13

The above changes all refer to national trends, and there were of course
significant regional variations, particularly in agricultural developments.
Although there has been no detailed study of the economic and social
history of Stratford and the immediately surrounding area, we are
fortunate in having Skipp’s study of five parishes within the Forest of
Arden, some fifteen miles north of Stratford. Population increased
rapidly during the late sixteenth century, from about 2,250 in the 1570’s to
3,400 in 1650: an increase of the order of 50% ; the rate of natural increase
was particularly strong during the last quarter of the century — 45%. The
price of arable produce trebled between 1530-59 and 1590-1619 (a slightly
greater increase than the national average), whereas cattle and oxen
more than doubled during the same period.!* Rents in this area “often
lagged behind prices to quite an extraordinary extent”, and the result was
a marked increase in the wealth “of the farmer: as against the landless
labourer or craftsman on the one hand, and the landlord on the other.”’15
This increasing wealth of farmers was not primarily due to improved
methods of cultivation, but was a direct consequence of the much higher
prices for their produce, at a time when rents were lagging very greatly
behind prices. This was not the case in all areas of England — in some
places landlords extracted rents in pace with the rate of inflation — and it
was perhaps the absence of such pressure that led to the new agricultural
methods not being introduced into the Forest of Arden until the early
seventeenth century.

The effect of all these changes was the ““Great Rebuilding” and ““Great
Refurnishing” of this part of Warwickshire; this was reflected most visibly
in the proliferation of timber-frame farm-houses. From the study of local
inventories, it emerges that houses with four or more rooms increased
from 14% in 1530- 69, 41% in 1570-99, to 76% in 1600-24.16 This was
associated with a general change in the pattern of consumption:
“increased personal wealth led to a rise in the demand for consumer
products of every kind.””?7 The simple, crude stools, forms, trestles and
table boards of the mid-Tudor period, progressively gave way to joined
tables, benches, turned chairs and bedsteads. The value of household
goods increased by about 300%, and this included personal clothing: the
number of garments per person nearly doubled between 1530-69 and
1570- 1609, an increase from an average of 6.4 to 11.4.18 The latter growth
in demand was directly relevant to John Shakespeare’s trade as a glover
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and whittawer. This shift in consumption affected all household goods:
between 1530-69 and 1610-49, the number of napkins listed in the
inventories rose from an average of one to ten, table cloths from an
average of one to two, flaxen sheets from three to six.19

The result was that the number of craftsmen increased significantly
from the earlier period. Whereas in Tudor times many craftsmen were
only part-time workers — working both as farmers and craftsmen — by the
Elizabethan period there were large numbers of full-time craftsmen listed
in the leather, textile, wood, building and metal trades.20 Many of them
were specialists — for example, in the building trade, sawyers, turners and
joiners — and there was an associated rise in the quality of consumer
products during the period. The changes not only applied to farming and
craftwork but also to the whole structure of the economy; whereas in the
earlier period, 1530- 69, only one in eight inventories specify ready cash,
by 1610- 49 this had risen to one in three, and by 1650-89 eight in ten died
with cash about them. Likewise, before 1575 there were no farmers
owned monies lent out for interest, but by 1625-49 one in every four had
risk capital out on loan.?!

These changes occurred relatively late in the countryside, and the
major development in trade and capital transactions took place in the
rapidly growing towns, particularly London. An index of this is the
change in the size of London’s population, which according to Finlay was
as follows: 1500: 50,000; 1550: 70,000; 1580: 100,000; 1600: 200,000,
1650: 240,000.22 Although these figures are only very approximate, they
do show a very rapid increase in the second half of the sixteenth century,
particularly in the last two decades. London’s population increased by
nearly fifty per cent between 1550 and 1580, an indication of the growth of
trading activity during John Shakespeare’s most active years.

For Stratford itself, although we have no general economic and social
history of the town, we are fortunate in having Martin’s monograph on its
demographic history for the Tudor and Stuart period. Using ecclesiastical
and hearth tax returns, Martin has estimated that Stratford’s population
increased from 1,503 in 1563 to 2,597 in 1673 — an increase of 61.56% .23
Although not quite so substantial an increase as the surrounding rural
parishes, it nevertheless did grow very significantly over the whole
period. There are no population figures available for the period we are
most interested in: the latter half of the sixteenth century. It is possible to
make very approximate estimates from the number of marriages; these
increased from 173 in the period 1558-1568 to 195 in 1591-1601. Assuming
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a constant marriage rate, population would have increased by about
12.71% from 1563 to 1596 — a rate of increase of 0.41% per annum,
slightly less than the 0.56% per annum found by Martin.

Most of the growth in the late sixteenth century period must have been
due to immigration: an analysis of the parish registers reveals that the
number of baptisms between 1558 and 1601 was 2,682, whereas the
number of burials was only slightly less at 2,66724 — a natural increase of
only fifteen people over the whole period. A major reason for this lack of
natural growth was the large number of burials due to plague; there were
two main plague years in this period: in 1564 (the year of Shakespeare’s
birth) 259 people died — representing about a sixth of the total population
—while in 1597, there was only a slightly lesser mortality, with 181 people
dying.25 (The mortality in this year may have been partly due to dearth in
the grain supply.) Stratford’s experience illustrates what was true of many
English towns: plague and other diseases periodically decimated their
populations, giving rise to a severe check on natural growth. London was
the most outstanding example of this: its enhanced mortality meant that
in order for its population to grow, it had to absorb about half of the
natural growth of the whole country.26

From this and other evidence, it appears that Stratford shared in the
prosperity of the area, functioning as it did as a market town covering the
complete range of agricultural and other produce. The town had become
thoroughly capitalistic in its economic structure and ethos; virtually all
the leading townsmen and neighbouring gentry were engaged in the
hoarding of barley and malt, in spite of contemporary national legislation
and local council rulings against forestalling and engrossing.2? On more
than one occasion this nearly led to rioting during periods of poor harvest,
and this will be dealt with in greater detail later in the book. In order to
exploit the huge growth in profitability of farming, it was not enough to
merely provide consumer goods and services for the surrounding
population; most of the leading townsmen functioned not only as
producers, but were also engaged in speculative activity. This can be
illustrated by the example of Thomas Rogers, Bailiff of the Borough, who
in 1595 was a butcher by trade, but was also engaged in extensive buying
and selling of corn, malt and cattle.28 John Shakespeare’s multiple
trading activities were not in themselves abnormal in Elizabethan
Stratford, but the scale and scope of his ventures did differ from those of
the average Stratford tradesman. This is so important for understanding
John Shakespeare’s economic position — and the way this shaped the
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milieu which in turn influenced Shakespeare’s cultural world — that the
whole subject will be considered in some detail.

* * *

John Shakespeare’s father, Richard, probably lived for most of his life in
Snitterfield, a village about three miles north of Stratford, and is known
to have been a copyholder on one manor from at least October 1535 until
October 1560, and a tenant on Robert Arden’s land from 1528-60. When
he died in 1561, Richard Shakespeare’s goods and belongings were
valued at £39.17s. — approximately £5,600 at current prices.?® (The
current value of all economic transactions will be indicated in brackets in
order to appreciate the sums of money involved — all prices will be inflated
by a ratio of 140, a minimal figure which is discussed in footnote 29.)
Richard Shakespeare was a relatively prosperous husbandman, but like
all small tenant farmers at this time, operated on a very modest scale.
Skipp has summarized the position of farmers in the Forest of Arden :
“The average fully inventoried summer farm for the period 1530- 69 is
estimated to have covered about 33 acres, of which roughly a third (10
acres) was arable and two-thirds (23 acres) grass. In other words, the mid-
Tudor peasant was growing corn almost exclusively for subsistance
purposes; for profit he concentrated on animal husbandry.’’30

There is some uncertainty as to how much land John Shakespeare
inherited from his father; nothing is known about his direct inheritance
but there are two surviving documents referring to sales of land by John
Shakespeare in Snitterfield to Robert Webbe in October 1579 for £4
(£560) and in Easter 1580 for £40 (£5,600).3! This could either be a
reference to two separate parcels of land, or a mistake in the price of the
same plot of land — although from the wording of the documents, it looks
as if the smaller plot was inherited from Richard Shakespeare, and the
larger through John Shakespeare’s wife, Mary Arden. What is clear, is
that when John Shakespeare married Mary Arden some time before
1558, he inherited eighty- six acres of land at Wilmcote, near Stratford,
which had been left to Mary by her father Robert Arden, Richard
Shakespeare’s landlord.32 Soon after 26 November 1556, when Robert
Arden made his will, John Shakespeare had probably acquired through
marriage over 100 acres of land — and this put him into the category of a
prosperous yeoman farmer by contemporary standards. However, he
had moved to Stratford by 1552, and at that time was working as a glover,
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presumably after a seven-year apprenticeship in the town. He was
probably born in about 1530 and so at the beginning of the 1550’s, was a
young man in his early twenties.

There is evidence that John Shakespeare had already commenced his
climb to prosperity before his marriage to Mary Arden, for he had begun
making investments and speculating in commodities previous to that
date. In June 1556, he was sued by Thomas Siche, a husbandman from
Arscote in Worcestershire, for a debt of £7 (£980) — and the case was
resolved by default in John Shakespeare’s favour. This dispute had led to
violence but John Shakespeare had pleaded a use of just force on Siche —
perhaps an indication of his strong and forceful personality.33 In October,
1556, he bought two houses, one in Grenhill Street, presumably an
investment, and the other in Henley Street — probably the house (East
House) he had lived in since 1552, and bought in preparation for his
marriage. In 1575 he paid £40 (£5,600) for the Middle and West Houses in
what is now known as the Birthplace, and so his purchase of two houses in
1556 constituted a considerable outlay of money. (Another way of seeing
this, is to set it against the incomes of various groups at this time: as late as
1688, Gregory King stated that a shopkeeper and tradesman’s income
was only £45 a year, with labouring people and out servants earning as
little as £15.)

The first evidence of speculative activity on John Shakespeare’s part,
comes from a suit he bought against Henry Field, of Stratford, in
November 1556 for the non-delivery of eighteen quarters of barley.
Barley was fetching about £1 a quarter, and so this consignment was
worth the very considerable sum of £18 — or about £2,500 at present
values.34 Prices of barley had increased significantly during the 1550’s —
rising from an index figure of 197 in 1540-49 to 450 in 1550-5935 — and it
appears that John Shakespeare was speculating in this commodity to
maximize profits in a rapidly rising market. The engrossing and forestall-
ing of barley and malt was commonplace in Stratford, and from the very
beginning of corporation records, there is reference to such activity. In
October 1555, the council prohibited inhabitants of the town from buying
or storing barley for non-residents (although the storage of malt was
allowed), and this presumably was enacted to create a monopoly for
residents.36 This was an era when trade was controlled and regulated,
illustrated by the town’s attitude to non-resident speculators buying corn
on the open market : “no farrener beynge a badger shall not in eny on
market day from henesforth lode ouer & above iij horysys but yt they
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Brynge the Justice letteres for the safcondyt & ley vp no corne in peyne of
£v.737This restriction on trade was to have very important consequences,
in creating a new body of individual traders operating outside market
towns — and we will see that Shakespeare’s father was one of the first to
trade in such a fashion.

John Shakespeare continued to be very active in local trade, and
became embroiled in a number of legal disputes. Unfortunately, the
details of all these are not known, partly because the Court of Record for
which most evidence is available, dealt only with local issues, and very
often only gave superficial information, particularly during the period
1570-84 when records were incomplete. Nevertheless, John Shakespeare
was involved in twenty-five suits over a forty-year period, in sixteen of
which he was the complainant and nine the defendant.3® Where
information is available, the evidence is that most of these disputes were
for relatively small sums; this was because the court was purely a local
one, and was used by tradesmen for collecting debts and settling other
relatively minor matters.

It is only recently that it has been realized that John Shakespeare did
not confine his business activities to Stratford, but ranged very widely,
both geographically and economically. In 1984, Thomas and Evans
published a summary of the findings of legal cases conducted in the Court
of the Exchequer, which completely changes our perception of John
Shakespeare’s business life.3? Four prosecutions were brought against
him, two in 1570 alleging illegal loans, and two in 1572 for illegally dealing
in wool. In 1570, all forms of money-lending for interest were illegal, and
in order to enforce the law, the government rewarded informers by
granting them a half share of penalties imposed upon offenders. The first
informer was Anthony Harrison of Evesham, Worcestershire, who
claimed in the formal information submitted on the 21st October 1569,
that John Shakespeare had lent John Mussum of “Wulton” (Walton) in
Warwickshire the sum of £100 (£14,000). The money was loaned some
time after 26 October 1568, and the transaction was alleged to have taken
place at Westminster; the money was to be repaid on or before the 1st
November 1569, together with £20 (£2,800) interest — representing an
annual rate of interest of 20%. No recorJd of any subsequent proceedings
has survived, and it is possible that Harrison and John Shakespeare
settled out of court.

The second accusation was laid later in the same year by James
Langrake of Whittlebury, Northamptonshire. He claimed that John
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“Shappere alias Shakespeare”, glover of “Stratford upon Haven”, had
lent John Musshem of Walton, Warwickshire £80 (£11,200) some time
after the 25th October 1568, the loan to be repaid on or before 30th
November 1568, with £20 (£2,800) interest — an exceptionally high annual
rate of interest of about 260%. The transaction also took place at
Westminster, but in this instance, it was pursued to a conclusion; the
judges of the Exchequer issued a writ to the sheriff of Warwickshire to
bring John Shakespeare to court, but in the event, on the 3rd February
1570, he came to London of his own volition. Although denying guilt, he
compounded with the court and was fined forty shillings. John Mussum
was probably a business partner of John Shakespeare’s. (Walton was just
outside Stratford, and both Mussum and John Shakespeare were sued for
debt in 1573 and 1578 by Henry Higford of Solihull, who had previously
worked in Stratford as town clerk.) That both transactions took place at
Westminster, on two consecutive days, and that the second one was for a
very short period at a very high rate of interest, suggests that the loans
were a part of a series of highly speculative and profitable ventures, made
at very short notice.

Two years after the prosecutions for usury, John Shakespeare again
suffered from the attentions of Langrake. In February 1572, Langrake
claimed that John Shakespeare and John Lockeley, both of “Stretford
super Haven™, had illegally bought from Walter Newsam and others 200
tods of wool, at fourteen shillings per tod — a total purchase price of £140
(£19,600). The offence was committed on or after 26th February 1571,
and again took place at Westminster. Later in the same year, Langrake
claimed that John Shakespeare on or after the 1st September 1571 had
bought at Snitterfield from Edward and Richard “Graunte’ and others,
100 tods of wool at fourteen shillings a tod - a total purchase price of £70
(£9,800). There is no further record of these prosecutions, and it is
probable that John Shakespeare compounded with Langrake in an out-
of-court settlement. The prosecutions were brought under a statute of
1552, which allowed only manufacturers or merchants of the Staple to
buy wool, and the potential penalty was the forfeiture of double the value
of wool bought.

Not a great deal is known about the parties involved in these various
prosecutions; virtually nothing is known about Anthony Harrison, except
that he came from Evesham in Worcestershire. John Lockeley was
another of John Shakespeare’s partners, and was also a glover in
Stratford-on-Avon; Richard Grant was Edward Grant’s father, and they
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were members of a Catholic gentry family which owned an estate at
Northbrook, near Snitterfied in Warwickshire — and will appear again
later in the book. James Langrake was accused in 1570 of raping one of his
servants, and attempted to intimidate his accusers by threatening to bring
an accusation against them in the Exchequer — the outcome of the case is
not known. In 1574 he was imprisoned along with eleven other informers
for compounding with offenders without the agreement of the court, and
in the following February he was fined £40 (£5,600) and banned from
bringing further informations for a year.

Although usury was an offence under the law, it was essentially
anachronistic. It had been practised widely during the medieval period,
and had been legalized for a time during Henry VIII’s reign. The law
under which John Shakespeare was prosecuted was modified in 1571,
with those lending under ten per cent only having to forfeit the interest if
prosecuted. However, although usury can be seen as an outdated
economic crime, it was still attracted great moral opprobium, and was a
relatively rare practice in 1570 — only a total of 181 prosecutions for usury
took place that year in the Exchequer, and as we have seen from Skipp’s
study of the Forest of Arden, none of the farmers’ inventories showed
money out on loan before 1575. In this respect, John Shakespeare’s
money-lending activities were something of an innovation in this area of
Warwickshire.

It is important to realize that these speculative projects were not
confined to the years 1568-71; we have already seen how John Shake-
speare was buying barley in 1556, and continued to be embroiled in
various disputes about money during the whole of his working life. In
1599 he sued John Walford of Marlborough in Wiltshire for non-payment
of £21 (£2,940), John Shakespeare alleging that he had sold Walford
twenty-one tods of wool at Stratford on the 4th November 1568, and that
the £21 owing in cash had never been paid.4? In 1571 he sued Richard
Quiney (father of Thomas Quiney who married Shakespeare’s daughter
Judith in 1616) for £50 (£7,000)4!, and the following year brought a
summons in the Court of Common Pleas against John Luther, which is
sufficiently revealing to be worth quoting fully:

“London. John Luther, late of London, glover alias John Luther of
Banbury, Oxon., glover, was summoned to answer John Shaxbere of
Stretford on Avon in co. Warwick, yeoman, in a plea that he owed him £50
(£7,000) etc. And John Shaxbere, by Henry Burr his attorney, said that
John Luther on 16 June 13 Eliz. at London by a certain writing obligatory
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had acknowledged himself bound to the same John Shaxbere in the
aforesaid £50 to be paid on demand. The said John Shaxbere had been
damaged to the value of £10 (£1,400). And he produced there in Court the
writing. And John Luther, by Thomas Gardener his attorney, came and
defended force and injury, etc.”’42

The case went in favour of John Shakespeare and he was awarded
33s.4d. (£233) costs, but the significance of this document is that although
John Shakespeare was probably unable to write — he signed all documents
with a cross or his mark, a pair of glovers’ dividers — he was capable of
conducting complex transactions in writing, and therefore was presum-
ably able to read. But perhaps more importantly, this case against Luther
reveals the cosmopolitan nature of John Shakespeare’s business life —
engaged in dealings with someone who moved between London and
Banbury, the transaction not only taking place in L.ondon, but also being
brought to trial there. John Shakespeare had dealings with people living
in London, Worcestershire, Northamptonshire, Oxfordshire, and, we
shall see later, in Coventry, Nottingham and Stoke in Staffordshire. Most
of his larger transactions took place in London — confirming the earlier
emphasis on the importance of London as a trading centre — and this
evidence totally changes our perception of John Shakespeare’s world.
His son William’s background has always been thought of as a narrow
provincial one, and this hds been one of the difficulties in accepting
Shakespeare’s authorship of the plays. But John Shakespeare’s life was
anything but provincial, and we will now consider his economic and
cultural world in some detail.




CHAPTER 3:
JOHN SHAKESPEARE’S CULTURAL WORLD

In 1588, John Shakespeare made a submission in connection with a
dispute with his nephew, John Lambert, over the sale of land, and
included in that submission a reference to twenty pounds he claimed was
owing to him. Most revealingly, he stated that he had “‘totally lost and
failed to acquire the whole gain, advantage and profit which he by buying
and bargaining with the aforesaid twenty pounds have had and acquired,
to the loss of thirty pounds.”? This is the credo — *‘buying and bargaining”
— of the middleman, a group whose activities Everitt has designated, “the
free trading between individuals”.2 He has defined this as the “type of
bargaining which was mostly nearly ‘free’, or emancipated from official
control: to dealing between individual traders, farmers and manufac-
turers in private.”3 ’

But before we consider the evidence that Everitt has published on the
organisation and culture of this group of individual traders, we must
examine information directly relevant to John Shakespeare’s occupation
as wool dealer. Bowden, in his definitive study of the wool trade in Tudor
and Stuart England, provides us with the necessary background to
understand John Shakespeare’s transition from glover to wool-dealer.
Writing about middlemen in the wool trade, Bowden tells us:

“The second group of middlemen — the glovers, fellmongers, leathersellers
etc — came to deal in wool through their interest in sheep skins, which they
bought as a normal part of their business. When purchased from the farmer
these skins were covered by a growth of fell wool, and this had first to be
removed before the pelts could be put through the various processes of
manufacture. As the wool was no use to the leather industry it was then sold
(sometimes sorted according to quality) to wool dealers and manufac-
turers. From selling superfluous wool to dealing in fleece wool was but a
short step to take; and in the second half of the sixteenth century the trade
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in fleece wool of a few of the members of this group appears to have been as
large as that conducted by many of the Staplers.”*

And if we had any doubt that this applied to the Warwickshire area,
Bowden goes on to state that the “glovers of the central and east
Midlands . . . were great wool dealers.”> Remnants of wool were found
in John Shakespeare’s Henley Street house (now known as the Birth-
place), and part of this house was traditionally referred to in Stratford as
‘the woolshop’; Bowden tells us that after the wool was bought, it was
most frequently ““carried to the dealer’s house or wharehouse’.6 Along
with the documentary evidence on John Shakespeare’s dealings in wool,
this extra information amply confirms the accuracy of Rowe’s statement
that John Shakespeare was a wool-dealer.

It is likely that John Shakespeare used sheep from the farms that he
owned and leased for both fleeces and wool, and given that there were
several references to him working as a butcher (this will be discussed
later), he probably butchered as well as skinned sheep. In addition to the
sheep from his own land, he was in a very good position through his
contacts with farmers in the surrounding countryside — both his father and
brother were small farmers — to gain ready access to other supplies of
sheep. According to Bowden, one of the most important types of “wool
growers were the husbandmen or ‘petty breeders’. These small farmers,
often living to the margin of subsistence, needed money with which to get
in their harvests, to pay their rents, or simply to meet normal, everyday
expenses.”” Skipp has described the husbandmen of the Forest of Arden,
with their thirty-three acre farms, two thirds of which were put down to
grass to raise animals for cash — a natural source of supply for John
Shakespeare’s wool-dealing business.

But wool-dealing also contained the seeds of money—lending: “When a
seller gave credit for wool he received a higher price for it than he would
have done had he accepted payment in ready money. The price of wool
sold on credit thus contained an element of interest . . . [and in] the
sixteenth century this interest charge was normally disguised as part of
the principal, but after the [Usury] Act of 1571 . . . it was sometimes
recorded as a separate item.”’® And so John Shakespeare’s business as a
wool-dealer may well have directly led him into explicit money-lending
ventures, although the evidence considered suggests that, quite indepen-
dently, he had become one of Everitt’s “individual traders”, willing to
“buy and bargain” any commodity that would make a profit.
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Everitt has shown that this type of trading grew rapidly in the sixteenth
century, particularly after about 1570. He has made a study of it through the
records of disputes between traders in the Courts of Chancery and
Requests, which provide a detailed picture of John Shakespeare’s economic
and cultural world. The majority of transactions took place privately in inns
and farmhouses (to escape the trade restrictions such as those imposed by on
corn buyers by Stratford Corporation), and were on a sufficiently large
scale, to require goods to be delivered at a later date, frequently in several
instalments. All were conducted on a credit basis, for which legal bonds
were drawn up by a lawyer or scrivener. Many of the traders worked with
partners, although these partnerships were very frequently only ephemeral
arrangements. According to Everitt, because of the absence of banks,
traders necessarily had to rely on their credit in the local community, and
this often “operated through a network of neighbours, friends, and
relatives. Sons, fathers, brothers, cousins, wives, uncles, mothers, brothers-
in-law: all were drawn into the circle.”?

In John Shakespeare’s case, it does seem that he turned to neighbours,
friends and relatives for financial help during periods of difficulty. Although
there is no direct evidence that Shakespeare worked with his father on his
trading activity, John Shakespeare did associate his son William with his
legal suit against the Lambert family in 1588. Fripp argues very convincingly
that Shakespeare showed “extraordinary knowledge, and large accurate
usage, in his writings from the beginning, of legal terminology and
procedure” (Shakespeare: Man And Artist, Vol.1, page 138), and it is
probable that he worked for his father in drafting legal bonds for trading
transactions. (Possibly under the tutelage of Henry Rogers, John Shake-
speare’s business partner and town clerk of Stratford?) Everitt has described
the culture which grew up amongst individual traders:

“In consequence of this network of kinship and acquaintance, the
packmen, carriers, woolmen, and factors who engaged in the private
agricultural market were not simply unconnected individuals. By the end of
Queen Elizabeth’s reign they had developed into a distinct and self-
conscious community on their own: a kind of society of wayfarers, partially
separate from the settled society of the manor house, a village, and market
town. It must not be supposed that this society was altogether new; its
origins went back to the medieval wool merchant, and perhaps beyond. But
it was at the end of Elizabeth’s reign, so far as the agricultural market is
concerned, that it became a recognizable community, with its own
characteristic customs, traditions, and ideals. Much of the dealing in which
travelling merchants engaged took place in farmhouses. Some took place in
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barns, and some in warehouses and corn-chambers. Perhaps the most
characteristic meeting-place of the wayfaring community, however, was
the provincial inn. The Elizabethan inn has no exact counterpart in the
modern world. It was the hotel, the bank, the warehouse, the exchange, the
scrivener’s office, and the market place of many a trader.”’10

John Shakespeare’s carried on many of his business meetings in London,
and perhaps Everitt under-estimates the importance of London as the
centre of internal trading. But with that caveat, and allowing for the
relatively early period of John Shakespeare’s trading, much of the above
would apply to his case. No doubt many of his business meetings took place
in the inns of Stratford and the surrounding area, although he was almost
certainly familiar with the inns of Westminster and other areas outside the
Stratford region. Everitt has elaborated on the role of the innkeeper in
trading activities:

*“The Tudor and Stuart innkeeper was thus in a powerful position to influence
the course of private trading. Many a publican provided cellars or outbuildings
for the storage of his clients’ goods. Some converted their halls or parlours into
private auction rooms. A few engaged in private dealings on their own account
. . . Most innkeepers, however, confined their activities to ‘finding chapmen’
for customers and arranging bargains between two of his customers himself, as
they were sitting at supper in the hall of the inn. Agreement between
prospective dealers was rarely reached without a lengthy series of ‘speeches’
and ‘communications’, and the company often sat far into the night before the
transaction was concluded. Sometimes an unscupulous innkeeper would allow
some hapless yeoman (well plied with ale) to be ‘cozened of his money’ by the
‘glozing terms . . . smooth words, and fair speeches’ of the other party
concerned; though no doubt most landlords, for the sake of their own
reputation, endeavoured to encourage fair dealing. 'When the bargain was
agreed, the local scrivener (sometimes himself one of the guests) was called
upon to draw up one of the bonds, and the deed was read out to the assembled
company.”11

If this passage conveys the impression that the culture of the traders was
defined solely by the inn and its practices, Everitt corrects this impression by
bringing out the more spiritual side of their life:

“It is not surprising if the wayfaring community developed an ethos of its own
dissimilar to that of the settled society of town and village. Its spirit of
speculation and adventure ran counter to the stable traditions of the English
peasantry . . . it is not fanciful to trace a connection between the spread of
private trading in the early seventeenth century and the rapid rise of
Independency. For Independency was not a rural and static religion, like
anglicanism, nor rigid and urban, like presbyterianism, but mobile, virile, and
impatient of human institutions, like the wayfaring community itself.” 12
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Perhaps Everitt presents too ideal a picture of the independent trader’s
ethos and culture, but it does have the merit of pointing up the cosmopolitan
and dynamic nature of this way of life. It also makes it much more
comprehensible as to how Shakespeare acquired the cultural knowledge and
background to write plays of such universal and general appeal. We will
return to Everitt’s work later in the book, as it provides one of the keys for
explaining John Shakespeare’s fall. Before leaving it however, we should
note that Everitt does recognize that the activities of a trader like John
Shakespeare were not always confined to one category; writing of “the
conflicting aspirations of the market town and private trader”, he notes that
“many traders engaged in both spheres of activity, and it would be
misleading to draw too sharp a distinction between them.”!3 And this was
particularly the case with Stratford: we will see later how most of the leading
townsmen engaged in speculative trading in corn, and perhaps a majority of
them could be categorized as individual traders during this period.

This can be illustrated by John Shakespeare’s friend and associate,
Adrian Quiney; he was a mercer by trade and lived in Henley Street (he was
fined along with John Shakespeare for making an unauthorized dunghill in
1552). He and John Shakespeare served on the council together — they both
held high office during the period of the reform of the Gild Chapel - and in
1571, when Quiney was bailiff and John Shakespeare was chief aiderman,
they “rode to London together on borough business, with permission from
the aldermen and burgesses to proceed ‘according to their discretions’.”14
Adrian Quiney was a business partner with his son Richard, and the
correspondence between the Quineys and Abraham Sturley, reveals how
widespread individual trading was in Stratford, with frequent references to
loans, investments and possible speculative bargains.

An example of this is the loan/ business transaction that Richard Quiney
sought to bring off with Shakespeare in 1598. Quiney appears to have been
short of money, and in the first instance, sought a loan of £30 from
Shakespeare. But a letter from Adrian to Richard in 1598 suggests a much
broader possible arrangement, and is very revealing of local attitudes to
money and trade : “Yff yow bargen with Wm Sha .. or receve money
therfor, brynge youre money homme that yow maye; and see howe knite
stockynges be sold; ther ys gret byinge of them at Aysshome. Edward
Wheat and Harrye, youre brother man, were both at Evyshome thys daye
senet, and, as I harde, bestow £20 [£2,800] ther in knyt hosse; wherefore 1
thynke yow maye doo good, yff yow can have money.”15
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We see here a direct link between the trading activities of John
Shakespeare and his son William, and it is clear that such activities were the
norm in Stratford, rather than the exception. The Quiney family was one of
the most respectable in the town: they bore arms, had been long settled in
the community, and were influential members of the corporation.16 They
were well-educated — Richard conducted much of his correspondence with
Abraham Sturley, who had been educated at Queen’s College, Cambridge,
in Latin — and appear from the language of this correspondence, to have
been strongly puritan. Nevertheless, along with all other leading townsmen,
they frequently engaged in speculative activity (particularly in corn and
malt), and Adrian’s letter to his son Richard, brings out just how far they
were involved in a bargaining mentality — although in the example quoted,
they were buying and selling stockings for their mercer’s business.

John Shakespeare in the earlier period was just as respectable and
eminent in the town as any of the other residents. Starting in 1556, he was
appointed to Stratford Corporation, and held office continuously until the
1570’s: he was successively aletaster (1556), burgess (1557), constable
(1558), afeeror (1559 and 1561), chamberlain (1561 and 1562), alderman
(1565), high bailiff (1568-69), and chief alderman (1571).17 It is true that he
was fined for non-attendance in 1557 and probably at other times as well, but
his overall record of attendance was as good as any other member of the
council. He is known to have missed only one meeting of the corporation in
the thirteen years that records were kept from 1564 to 1577.18 By any
standards, Shakespeare’s father was a highly conscientious and active
member of the town council, until his sudden withdrawal at the end of 1576
or the beginning of 1577. After that date, he ceased to attend, even though
he was still nominally an alderman for another ten years.!® John Shake-
speare’s role as a member of the corporation should not be exaggerated
however: the council only met about once a month, and there are only.
thirty-two specific occasions when he is mentioned as attending in the
eleven-year period 1566-77 (although there is only one occasion when he is
listed as being absent.) There is no inconsistency between regular participa-
tion in corporation affairs, and life as an individual trader, including visits to
London and elsewhere. In fact, he was prosecuted for usury and wool-
dealing at the very time he had achieved highest office in Stratford — 1568-71
— when he was bailiff and chief alderman, and had visited London with
Adrian Quiney on council business.

His last known date of certain attendance was on the 5th September 1576,
thus suggesting he withdrew from corporation meetings sometime between
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the 5th September, 1576 and 23rd January, 1577. That this withdrawal was
not made directly on economic grounds is indicated by a number of items of
evidence. The following is recorded in the Minutes and Accounts of
Stratford Corporation : “5th December 1576 — It is also ordered and agreed
upon that every alderman shall pay (savinge Mr Lewes and Mr Plumley)
xii.d. [£7] a pece this present yere towardes the wages of the common bedyll,
and the said Mr Lewes and Mr Plumley to pay viii.d. [£4.65] a pece, and all
the burgesses shall pay iiii.d. a pece this present yere savinge that Mr
Nicholas Barnehurst shall pay for his part xii.d. towardes the wages of the
said bedyll.”"20 It was customary for the levies on burgesses and aldermen to
be a reflection of their economic status; burgesses being in the main poorer
than aldermen paid a third of the latter’s levy, and individual aldermen, such
as Mr Lewes and Mr Plumley paid less on account of poverty, or more in the
case of Burgess Barnehurst because of his wealth.

At this critical time of Alderman Shakespeare’s life, he was considered by
his colleagues to be capable of paying the full levy for an alderman. But a
year later, the position had changed dramatically: *“29th January 1578: At
this hall yt ys agreed that every alderman, except suche under wrytten
excepted, shall paye towardes the furniture of three pikemen, two billmen
and one archer vi.s. viii.d.[£47] . . . Mr Shaxpeare iii.s. iv.d.[£23.50] ...”2!
Up until this point, John Shakespeare had always been assessed in the
normal way, and during the twenty years he had been associated with the
council, he had if anything, loaned money to the corporation in his day-to-
day business on their behalf. And here he was being levied at half the normal
rate for an alderman - the first indication of his ensuing economic
difficulties. He failed to pay this reduced levy, and was altogether excused
on the 19th November 1578 from a weekly contribution of 4d. towards the
relief of the poor.22 During this same year, as we will see later, he began to
sell and mortgage land which he had acquired through inheritance.

That his withdrawal from council meetings was not initially due to
economic factors is further confirmed by current corporation practice; when
a member of the council got into economic difficulty, the corporation either
made reduced levies or allowed the member in question to resign on grounds
of poverty, and this certainly happened to other members of the council.23
In spite of John Shakespeare only attending once — as far as is known —
during the ten years after 1577, no attempt was made to expel him from the
council; but finally, on the 6th September 1586, it was noted in the
corporation minutes, that “Mr Shaxspere dothe not come to the halles when
... warned nor hathe done of long tyme” — and he was expelled.24 It is clear
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from this that it was not any antagonism on the part of the council —either on
economic, religious or social grounds — that was responsible for his
withdrawal; on the contrary, the corporation had been extraordinarily
patient before expelling such a prolonged absentee, which presumably was a
measure of their esteem given his previous twenty years of conscientious and
valuable service.

The puzzle of the dramatic transformation in John Shakespeare’s life is
deepened when we examine his more general economic circumstances
during this period. All the evidence is that he continued to enjoy prosperity
and social position right up until the time of his withdrawal from the council;
in October 1575 he bought two houses costing £40 (£5,600)25, and more
importantly, in about 1576 he applied for a grant of arms, which appears in
part to have been successful. According to the commentary attached to the
grant of arms made to Shakespeare senior in 1596, “This John shoeth a
patierne under Clarent Cookes hand — paper xx years past.”’26 As Fripp has
pointed out, in order to apply for a grant of arms the applicant had to
convince the relevant authority that he could live without ““manual labour”
and “bear the port, countenance and charge of a man of substance”?7, and
apparently John Shakespeare successfully convinced the Clarencieux King-
at-Arms Robert Cook that he was capable of this, as Cook did suggest an
actual ‘patierne’ for a grant of arms. Clearly, John Shakespeare considered
himself a sufficient economic and social success in about 1576 to warrant the
title and social status of ‘gentleman’.

One possible explanation for the sudden decline in Shakespeare senior’s
economic and social fortunes is ill-health — this in principle could account for
both his sudden poverty, and his abrupt withdrawal from corporation
meetings. However, when a councillor was sick he was excused attendance,
with the explicit statement that the person was ‘infirmus’28 — and there was
no indication in the language with which John Shakespeare was expelled —
“dothe not come to halles when . . . warned” — that there was any presence
of illness. However, there is one form of explanation that has attracted a
great deal of scholarly interest, and which will be considered in some detail
in the next section — that John Shakespeare was a religious recusant and
withdrew from the council on grounds of religious persecution.

* * *

There have been two diametrically opposed religious explanations as to
why John Shakespeare withdrew from corporation meetings: one that he
was a Puritan, the other that he- was Catholic. The most scholarly advocate
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puritan thesis is Edgar Fripp. Most of Fripp’s evidence is taken from
Stratford corporation records; in 1563 and 1564/1565 Shakespeare’s father
was active chamberlain for the borough, and made the following payments
which were incorporated in his annual account: “10 Jan. 1564 — Item payd
for defaysing ymages in ye chappell — 2s.; March 1565 — Item payd for taknge
doune ye rood loft in ye chappell — 2s.; Item payd to Peter Start for
workynge ye seattes — 6s.”’2% These were typical puritan measures and there
were other similar items of general expenditure on the chapel during this
period, suggesting that the building was undergoing a structural reformation
along Protestant lines. The chapel had originally belonged to the Gild of the
Holy Cross, but became the property and official chapel of the Stratford
Corporation in 1553 when the borough received its charter. (The corpora-
tion met in the Gild Hall adjoining the chapel, which was near the centre of
the town, unlike the parish church which was on its periphery.) In 1571 when
Shakespeare senior was Chief Alderman (deputy mayor) it was decided by
the council that “Mr Adrian Queny (the mayor) ... shuld sell the copes and
vesmentes”, and later in 1573 when John Shakespeare was an ordinary
alderman, the corporation arranged “for glasinge the chapell wyndowes”.

It was on the basis of this and other evidence that Fripp concluded that
John Shakespeare was a Puritan, and for this period when he was active on
the council, the evidence certainly points in this direction. The conclusion
has been disputed by other historians, such as Mutschmann and Wen-
tersdorf, who have argued as follows: “At the end of 1563, the Guild Chapel

. . was Protestantized, and the images were defaced. John Shakespeare it
is true, was a member of the corporation, and as Chamberlain had to pay the
bills for the defacing; there is nothing, however, to indicate his personal
views about this procedure, which was carried out in compliance with
government instructions, and very tardily at that.”’30 There are a number of
problems with this argument: firstly, it ignores the fact that John Shake-
speare was actively associated with nearly all the extensive changes in the
chapel. Secondly, it is largely self-contradictory: the “lateness” of the
reforms (and they were certainly later than elsewhere — London made
orders for the destruction and sale of Catholic objects in 1559, Leicester in
156131), would highlight the role of John Shakespeare in making the
changes, i.e. suggesting that he took a major part of the initiative in carrying
out reforms when he achieved office.

But the religious affiliation and attitudes of Shakespeare’s father, can only
be properly understood in the context of the religious and social life of the
town, and as this is somewhat complex, I will attempt to summarize its
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relevant features. The corporation was the successor to the medieval gild,
and acquired most of its property and much of its structure of authority from
the gild. Additionally, its social life was partly determined by the nature of
the gild; not only was the corporation considered a “brotherhood” —loyalty
to the council by its members was a primary requisite — but it was also seen as
areligious fraternity. Quoting Fripp: “‘On Leet Days, Fair Days, and certain
other occasions, Aldermen and Burgesses attended in their gowns at his [the
Mayor’s] house to escort him to Church or through the market or in
perambulation of the Borough boundaries. They wore their gowns at
Church on Sundays and holidays, and had seats near the pulpit.”’32

There is no direct evidence about John Shakespeare’s attendance at
church during the period he was a member of the council, but we do know
that he was one of the most active members of the corporation (certainly in
terms of attendance at its meetings), and as Bailiff and Chief Alderman at
different times, he would have attended church as a part of his official duties.
But what is the evidence that Stratford was a puritan corporation, other than
the information already quoted from council records? The Victoria County
History of Warwickshire has summarized one reading of the evidence as
follows: “The defacing of the images in the Gild Chapel, carried out when
Shakespeare’s father was chamberlain in 1563; the prohibition of stage plays
in 1602, and the tone of the correspondence and wills of many of the leading
townsmen all indicate the puritan atmosphere of Elizabethan Stratford.”33

There is support for this conclusion from other sources; in January, 1575,
Warwick Corporation wrote of the members of the Stratford Council that
“they are men known of good credit, honest behaviour, upright dealing and
such as upon their credits might be trusted”’34 — and coming from a body
known for its strong puritan leanings, this must be taken as confirmation of
the overall puritan nature of the Stratford Corporation. (Although in the
light of the previous discussion of the importance of personal credit amongst
traders, it is interesting to note the emphasis on credit-worthiness in this
recommendation.) Likewise, when a survey of the ministry was made in
Warwickshire in November, 1586, it was noted that the minister at
Stratford, the Reverend Barton, was “a precher, learned, zealous and
godlike and fit for the ministerie” .35

But this image of a strongly puritan Stratford is misleading in some
respects. The council throughout John Shakespeare’s lifetime supported
and paid for the performance of plays in the town virtually every year (in
some years three or four companies of players were paid for36); the town
entertained the players with drink and food at the local inns, The Bear and
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The Swan, as well as entertaining local justices, visiting preachers and its
own officers, and expenditure on wine was one of the chief expenses.
However, during the Elizabethan period, the antagonism of puritans
towards the theatre and drinking was not as strong as it was to be in the
following century, and it has even been argued that during the early period
of the Reformation there was a natural alliance between puritanism, the
theatre and the drink trade — all antagonistic to the old Catholic authoritaria-
nism and suppression of free discussion of new ideas and practices.37 (Fripp
has also pointed out that a number of the innkeepers in Warwickshire were
of the puritan persuasion — not surprising given that many of them were
acting as brokers and bankers for individual traders, many of whom were
ardent Protestants.) And the behaviour of the leading townsmen in other
contexts—legal disputes over debts, physical assaults and scurrilous personal
attacks38 — hardly suggests the sober and restrained respectability that we
latterly associate with puritanism.

None of this however contradicts Fripp’s argument that during the period
that John Shakespeare was a member of the corporation he was at the very
least sympathetic to the Protestant cause, and even possibly strongly in
favour. Fripp uses this conclusion to go on to argue a much more contentious
thesis as to why Shakespeare senior abruptly withdrew from the council, and
suddenly appeared to lose economic status. Fripp’s argument runs as
follows: as a result of Bishop Whitgift’s investigation of recusancy in
Warwickshire in 1577, John Shakespeare became frightened and “went to
earth” (withdrew from pubilic life), and in order to cover up his recusancy he
became “suddenly anxious to appear ‘of no account’, ‘a very beggar’, ready
to plead ‘debt’ and ‘fear of process’, unwilling to pay his levies and fines

. 73 Fripp concluded that Shakespeare’s father in effect went into
hiding; he withdrew from public life and presented himself as a virtual
bankrupt in order to escape the effects of prosecution for being a puritan
recusant.

The evidence however when scrutinised in detail does not support Fripp’s
thesis: Bishop Whitgift did not institute his inquiry until October 157749,
whereas John Shakespeare stopped attending corporation meetings some
time between the 5th September 1576 and 23rd January, 1577, i.e. about a
year before Whitgift's enquiry. It is true that the Grand Ecclesiastical
Commission had been set up in April 1576 to amongst other things “order,
correct, reform and punish any persons willfully and obstinately absenting
themselves from church and service”41, but as Fripp himself points out, the
Commissioners were mainly concerned with “papists”, and only acted
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were not started until October 1577. There is other even more important
evidence against Fripp’s thesis, but this will be considered at a later and
more appropriate stage.

The alternative hypothesis, that John Shakespeare’s withdrawal from the
council and fall into poverty was due to his espousal of Roman Catholicism,
has most forcibly been argued by Mutschmann and Wentersdorf: “The
explanation of John Shakespeare’s abrupt break with borough life must be
sought . . . with the beginnings of the Catholic counter-reformation in
England, the mission whose aim was to rouse Catholics from their easygoing
attitude of outward conformity with the Anglican Church . . . Among those
who responded by becoming open recusants voluntarily withdrawing from
public life rather than take the forbidden oath of supremacy or attend
Anglican services, was Alderman John Shakespeare.”#2 Like Fripp,
Mutschmann and Wentersdorf explain Shakespeare senior’s economic
difficulties as being the result of his religious recusancy; directly through the
imposition of heavy fines, and indirectly through the attempt to avoid fines
by handing over his property “for safekeeping to trustworthy friends”,
devising his “lands to tenants, friends or . . . relatives”, some of whom
turned out to be untrustworthy and refused to return this property after the
pressure of religious persecution had lifted.43

Most of this argument is speculative, lacking any direct evidence or
documentary confirmation. The only evidence solidly in its favour is the
Catholic religious will and testament made in John Shakespeare’s name,
found in the loft of the Shakespeare Henley Street house in 1757. Although
this document was in standard form, most scholars now accept that it is
genuine, and that in all probablity John Shakespeare did die a Catholic.44
But all the evidence is that this was a late conversion, for during the period
that John Shakespeare was a member of the corporation, he actively
supported the Protestant reformation of the gild chapel, and nowhere is
there any mention of fines, difficulties, or religious persecution on Catholic
grounds. The only mention of his “recusancy” is the inclusion of his name in
the list of recusants for the year of 1592; but his name was very clearly
grouped with eight others who were stated as “not comminge monthlie to
the churche . . . Itissayd . . . for feare of process for debtte”, and there is
good evidence that all nine people on this list were in deep economic
difficulty at this time*>, and none of them appear on the recusancy roll for
159346

Others in the 1592 recusancy survey were explicitly listed as avoiding
church because of their Catholic affiliations, but John Shakespeare was not
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one of them. He had good reason to fear arrest for debt: in 1589 William
Burbage had sued him in the London Court of Common Pleas for the
recovery of £7 (£980) awarded him in 1582, and was granted his suit, with 35
shillings damages (£245).47 The original suit had arisen out of the leasing of a
house by John Shakespeare, the £7 apparently being the sum that Burbage
had originally paid for the lease (one must assume that John Shakespeare
did not fulfill his part of the bargain). The older Shakespeare did not pay this
debt or the damages arising out of the 1589 case, and an initial warrant for his
arrest was issued after he failed to appear before the Justices of the Common
Pleas in April, 1592.48 As Eccles has concluded: ““‘Shakespeare’s father had
good reason to fear arrest, for he had never paid the debt of seven pounds
and damages which William Burbage had never recovered from him in-
1589.749

Both Fripp and Mutschmann & Wentersdorf make a great deal of the
transfer of land by John Shakespeare to friends and relatives, allegedly to
avoid the effects of religious persecution. Both groups of authors argue that
Shakespeare’s father was cheated out of land in this way, and they
particularly had in mind the mortgaging of the land inherited through Mary
Arden at Wilmcote in the parish of Aston Cantlow. Shakespeare senior
mortagaged this land to his brother-in-law Edmund Lambert (he was
married to Mary Arden’s sister) in 1578, and this transaction and its
aftermath is of such central importance for understanding John Shake-
speare’s character, that the next chapter will be devoted entirely to a
discussion of it.






CHAPTER 4:
THE SHAKESPEARE/LAMBERT DISPUTE

The first surviving legal document relating to the Shakespeare/Lambert
land transactions is the foot of fine registered in Easter of 1579. The
relevant substance of this document is as follows

“This is the final agreement made in the court in Westminster ... Between
Edmund Lambert complainant and John Shakespeare and his wife Mary
defendants concerning two messuages two gardens fifty acres of land two
acres of pasture four acres of pasture and common of pasture of all sorts of
beasts with appurtenances in Aston Cantlow whence a plea of agreement
had been summoned between them in the same Court. That is to say that
the aforesaid John and Mary recognized the aforesaid tenement and
common pasture with the appurtenances to be the right of . . . Edmund and
his heirs in perpetuity . . . and for this recognizance concession quitclaim
warrant fine and concord the same Edmund gave the aforesaid John and
Mary forty pounds sterling.”!

On the face of it, this was a straight sale of about 56 acres of land by the
Shakespeares to Edmund Lambert for £40 (£5,600). The references to
complainant and defendant were standard sixteenth century legal
terminology; as Lewis has put it, “one of the legal methods of conveying
and alienating land in the sixteenth century . . . was a fictitious suit in
which one party sued the other for wrongfully witholding a given
property. The defendant admitted the fictitious fact, and then the
complainant paid the defendant for giving the premises back to him.””2
No mention was made in this foot of fine to any mortgage arrangement,
and there was no reference to the land in question being held by other
parties under lease; in fact the land was both mortgaged and let under
lease.

In November 1579 a foot of fine was registered on a lease on land in
Wilmcote owned by the Shakespeares. There has been much confusion
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and disagreement among Shakespeare scholars as to the significance of
this lease, and its salient features run as follows:

“Between Thomas Webbe and Humphrey Hooper, the complainants, and
John Shakespeare and Mary his wife and George Gibbs, the defendants,
concerning seventy acres of land, six acres of meadow, ten acres of pasture
and common of pasture for all manner of animals with the appurtenances,
in Wilmcote . . . That is to say: the aforesaid John and Mary and George
recognized the aforesaid tenements and common of pasture, with the
appurtenances, to be the property of . . . the same Thomas and Humphrey
[held] as a gift of the aforesaid John and Mary and George . . . And for this
recognition . . . the same Thomas and Humphrey granted to the aforesaid
George the aforesaid tenements and common of pasture . . . from the feast
of Saint Michael the Archangel [29th September] . . . one thousand five
hundred and eighty, even to the end of a term of twenty-one years ...; he to
render therefrom annually to the aforesaid Thomas and Humphrey, and to
the heirs of Thomas himself, one-half of a quarter of wheat and one half of a
quarter of barley to be paid annually on the feast-day of the Nativity of our
Lord ... The above-mentioned Thomas and Humphrey furthermore
(had) granted to the above mentioned John and Mary a reversion of the
above mentioned tenements and common of pasture, with the appurte-
nances, and the above-mentioned revenue previously reserved, and they
(had) restored these to them in the same Court, to have and to hold by the
same John and Mary, and the heirs of Mary herself . . . in perpetuity.”3

This lease can only properly understood when its purpose from the
Shakespeares’ point of view is made clear; this will be discussed later, but
for the moment we can note: 1. That Thomas Webbe and Humphrey
Hooper in effect leased the land from the Shakespeares until the 29th
September, 1580 — and this was achieved threugh fictional devices of
complainant/defendant and gift/counter-gift. 2. That after this date in
1580 the land was leased for twenty-one years at a peppercorn rent to
George Gibbs, who was almost certainly acting as the Shakeapeares’
agent and steward.“ In 1588 John Shakespeare lodged a bill of complaint
against Edmund Lambert and revealed a mortgage which had been
arranged in 1578. It is such a significant document for the reading of John
Shakespeare’s character, that it will be quoted very fully:

“John Shakespeare complains . . . that. . . Edmund (Lambert) during his

lifetime, to wit, on the fourteenth day of November (1578) . . . through a

certain indenture bearing the date and the year aforesaid, had bought for

himself and his heirs from the aforementioned John Shakespeare and Mary

his wife one messuage or tenement, one virgate of land, and four acres of

arable land with the appurtenances in Wilmcote in the said county of

Warwick, to have and to hold . . . forever; provided always that if the said

John Shakespeare, his heirs, executors, administrators or assigns either
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paid or caused to be paid to the aforesaid Edmund forty pounds of legal
English money on the day of the feast of Saint Michael the Archangel [29th
September] . . . one thousand five hundred and eighty, that the then
aforesaid indenture and all things therein would be void; by virtue of which
the same Edmund entered the aforementioned tenement with its appurte-
nancies, and from that time had possession of it as master from a fief, and
thus remaining in possession from that time on, afterwards, to wit, on the
first day of March (1587) . . . he died . . . after whose death the aforesaid
messuage and other premises with the appurtenances descended to the
aforesaid John Lambert, as son and heir of the said Edmund; and the said
John Lambert, doubting his estate and interest of and in the aforesaid
tenements with appurtenances to be void, and having knowledge that it was
the purpose and intent of the said John Shakespeare to summon him to
justice on account of the property, in consideration that the aforesaid John
Shakespeare did not at once summon to court the said John Lambert on the
account of the aforesaid tenment and the rest of the premises with the
appurtenances, and (in consideration) that the said John Shakespeare and
his wife Mary together with William Shakespeare their son, when claim had
been made upon them, covenanted the said tenements and the other
premises with appurtenances to said John Lambert and delivered all
writings and proofs concerning the aforesaid premises; the aforesaid John
Lambert . . . in consideration thereof took obligation upon himself and
then and there faithfully promised that he, the same John Lambert would
fully and faithfully pay and make satisfaction (to the amount of) twenty
legal pounds in English money [£2,800]... the aforesaid John Lambert,
however, caring but for the least for his aforesaid promise and undertaking,
but with scheming and fraudulent intent craftily and cunningly to deceive
and defraud this John Shakespeare of the aforesaid twenty pounds, has not
up to this time paid the same twenty pounds . . . on account of which, the
same John Shakespeare totally lost and failed to acquire the whole gain,
advantage and profit which he by buying and bargaining with the aforesaid
twenty pounds have had and acquired, to the loss of thirty pounds to John
Shakespeare. And thereafter he brings a suit of law . . . and the same John
Lambert defends the force and injury since etc, and says that he did not
assume for himself in the way and form in which the aforesaid John
Shakespeare related above against him...”5

John Shakespeare fundamentally contradicted himself in this bill of
complaint: on the one hand he admitted that there had been an absolute
tranfer of the land, subject only to the unredeemed mortgage proviso (the
£40 due on the 29th September, 1580), and on the other he claimed that
he was selling outstanding ‘“‘evidences” for £20. Why should John
Lambert agree to the payment of an additional £20 for the surrender of
“evidences” when he clearly already owned the land outright? As the
author of the Public Record Office pamphlet Shakespeare In The Public
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Records concluded, John Shakespeare’s claim “was dubious in the
extreme’’6, and there is no evidence that the case ever reached the courts.
A full discussion of the significance of this bill of complaint must wait until
we have examined all the evidence in the Shakespeare/Lambert dispute.
However, as previously noted, it indicates the speculative, capitalist
nature of John Shakespeare’s attitude and mentality: that by “buying and
bargaining” he expected to be able to make a 50% profit on money
invested. Additionally, it links Shakespeare himself into the transaction —
suggesting that he was still living in Stratford and working with his father
at this late period?

Nine years after John Shakespeare had filed the above complaint, he
and his wife submitted (in 1597) an entirely different case against John
Lambert, relating to the same land transaction:

“... [In] consideracion of the somme of fowerty poundes to them by one
Edmounde Lamberte . . . your sayde oratours [the Shakespeares] were
contente that he, the saide Edmounde Lamberte, shoulde have and enjoye
the same premisses untill such tyme as your sayde oratours did repaie unto
him the saide somme of fowertie poundes; by reasone whereof the saide
Edmounde did enter into the premisses and did occupie the same for the
space of three or fower yeares, and the issues and the profyttes thereof did
recyve and take; after which your saide oratours did tender unto the said
Edmounde the sayde somme of fowerty poundes, and desired that they
mighte have againe the sayde premisses accordinge to theire agreement;
which money he the sayde Edmounde then refused to receyve, sayinge that
he woulde not recyve the same, nor suffer your sayde oratours to have the
saide premisses agayne, unlesse they woulde paye unto him certayne other
money which they did owe unto him for other matters . . . shortelie after
the tendringe of the sayde fowertie poundes to the saide Edmounde, and
the desyre of your sayde oratours to have theire lande agayne from him, he
the saide Edmounde att Barton aforesayde dyed, after whose deathe one
John Lamberte, as sonne and heire of the saide Edmounde, entred into the
saide premisses and occupied the same; after which entrie of the sayde John
your said oratours came to him and tendred the saide money unto him . . .
which he, the saide John, denyed in all thinges, and did withstande them for
entringe into the premisses, and as yet doeth so contynewe still ...”"7

This bill of complaint is totally at odds with the earlier story told by
John Shakespeare in 1588: in that year, there was no mention of the
repayment of the £40 mortgage, but rather a complaint that John
Lambert had refused to pay £20 for further evidence of title; in 1597, the
reverse was the case — no mention of non-payment of the £20, but a new
claim that the £40 mortgage money had been proffered as stipulated
under the original agreement. Paradoxically, John Shakespeare had
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outlined very clearly in his 1588 complaint the mortgage arrangement on
the land: the £40 to be paid by the 29th September 1580, or the land to be
forfeited — wheareas in 1597 he merely stated that Edmund Lambert
should enjoy the “premisses untill such tyme your sayde oratours did
repaie unto him the saide somme of fowertie pounds.” And he was
extremely vague in his later statement as to when he proffered the £40 in
repayment of the mortgage: at one point he said he had offered to pay it
“three or fower yeares” after the agreement of 1578, i.e. between 1581
and 1582, and then claimed that “shortelie after the tendringe of the
sayde fowertie poundes”, Edmund Lambert died — and as the latter died
in 1587, this would put the date some five or six years later. And offering
the £40 to John Lambert in 1587 would have been irrelevant, given that
the mortgage deed clearly stipulated, on John Shakespeare’s own
admission, payment by 1580. John Lambert’s reply to the above
complaint was as follows:

“... [The] said complainante, John Shakespeare, by indenture beringe date
uppon or about the fowerteenth daye of November, [1578] . . . for and in
consideracion of the summe of fortie powndes of lawfull Englishe monney
unto the said complainante paide by Edmunde Lamberte, this defendantes
father in the said byll named, did geve, graunte, bargaine and sell the said
messuage, and one yearde and fower acres of lande with the appurtenances
[in Wilmecott, in the parishe of Aston Cawntloe], unto the said Edmunde
Lamberte, and his heires and assignes, to have and to holde the said
messuage ... ; in which indenture there is a condicionall proviso
conteyned that, if the said complainante did paye unto the saide Edmunde
Lamberte the summe of fortie powndes uppon the feastdaie of St. Michell
the Archangel . .. one thousande fyve hundred and eightie, att the
dwellinge howse of the said Edmund Lamberte . . . that then the said
graunte, bargaine and sale . . . shulde cease and be voyde ... and this
defendante further sayeth that the said complainante did not tender or paye
the said summe of fortie powndes unto the said Edmunde Lamberte, this
defendantes father, uppon the saide feaste daye, which was in the yeare of
our Lorde God one thowsande fyve hundred and eightie, accordinge to the
said provisoe in the said indenture expressed. By reason whereof this
defendantes said father was lawfully and absolutely seized of the said
premisses . . . and this defendante further sayeth that the said messuage,
yearde lande and other premisses, or the moste part thereof, have ever,
sythence the purches therof by this defendantes father, byne in lease by the
demise of the said complainante; and the lease thereof beinge now
somewhat nere expyred, whereby a greater value is to be yearly raised
thereby, they, the said complainantes, doe now trowble and moleste this
defendante by unjuste sutes in lawe, thinkinge therby, as yt shoulde seme,
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to wringe from him this defendante some further recompence for the said

premisses then they have alreddy received ...”’8

This statement of John Lambert’s confirms the details of the mortgage
arrangement outlined by John Shakespeare in 1588: that it was to run for
two years until the 29th September 1580, whereupon if not redeemed the
land would be transferred absolutely to Edmund Lambert. There is no
mention of the £20 for surrender of evidences of title, and this had
become an irrelevance inasmuch as the Shakespeares had dropped this
contention from their claim in 1597. John Lambert’s defence was very
straightforward — he stood by the two-year mortgage arrangement earlier
conceded by John Shakespeare — and he categorically denied that any
payment had been offered to redeem this mortgage. The additional
interest of his defence lies in the reference to the lease; although he does
not give details of this, he does tell us that it was due to expire soon after
1597, and that there would be a significant increase in its value on
renewal. This is almost certainly the lease on the Shakespeare Wilmcote
land registered in 1579: it was let out on a peppercorn rent and was due to
run out in 1601, but we will return to this lease when presenting a
summary analysis of the whole series of transactions centring on the
Wilmcote property. In reply to Lambert’s defence, John Shakespeare yet
again modified his story:

¢... accordinge to the condicion or proviso mencioned in the said indenture

of bargaine and sale of the premisses mencioned in the said bill of

complaynt, he this complaynant, John Shakespere, did come to the

dwellinge-house of the said Edmunde Lambert, in Barton-uppon-the-

Heathe, uppon the feaste daie of St.Michaell the archangel ... one

thousand fyve hundred and eightie, and then and there tendered to paie

unto him the said Edmunde Lambert the said fortie poundes, which he was

to paie for the redempcion of the said premisses; which somme the saide

Edmunde did refuse to receyve, sayinge that he owed him other money,

and unles that he, the said John, would paie him altogether, as well as the

said fortie pounds as the other money, which he owed him over and above,

he would not receave the said fortie poundes, and imediatlie after he, the

said Edmunde, dyed, and by reason thereof, he, the said defendant,

entered into the saide premisses, and wrongfullie kepeth and detayneth the

said premisses from him the said complaynant ...”°

Again, there is a basic contradiction in this account: on the one hand,
John Shakespeare claimed to have proffered the £40 in 1580; on the
other, he stated that Edmund Lambert died “immediatlie after’”’ — and as
this happened in 1587, there is a discrepancy of something like seven
years in the chronology. It is therefore not surprising in the light of all
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these contradictions and inconsistencies that the case went against John
Shakespeare. Although we do not have a formal record of the verdict, it is
now known that the land continued in the ownership of the Lambert
family; in early 1602, “John Lambert and his Margery his wife sold to
Richard Smyth, for forty pounds, forty-six acres of land in Greate
Wilmcote, together with two acres of meadow, three acres of pasture,
and common of pasture.”1® The case had come full circle: John
Shakespeare’s lease had come to an end in 1601 — the year of his death —
and the Wilmcote land was sold for the same sum for which it was bought
—£40. (The Lamberts would have made a small profit on the transaction,
as they appear to have retained five of the 56 acres that they acquired in
1578.)

Before analysing the significance of this case, we must take note of two
small but interesting additional pieces of evidence on the Shakespeare/
Lambert relationship. When Roger Sadler, a baker of Stratford, made his
will on the 14th November 1578, he appended to it a list of debts owing to
him; one of these was a debt of £5 (£700) owing by “Edmonde Lamberte”
and “Edward Cornishe” (another brother-in-law of John Shakespeare),
“for the debte of Mr John Shaksper” .11 Lambert was helping his brother-
in-law Shakespeare with a loan at the time of the latter’s economic
difficulties in 1578, and two years later in May, 1580, John Shakespeare’s
youngest son, Edmund, was christened — and as Halliday has written, he
“was probably named after his uncle, Edmund Lambert”.12 All this
suggests that the Shakespeares and Lamberts were on very friendly terms
until the dispute broke out between them about the Wilmcote property.

We are now in a position to consider the significance of some of the
property transactions earlier discussed, in particular the leasing of the
Wilmcote land registered in 1579. Given John Shakespeare’s economic
difficulties in 1578 and his friendly relationship with his brother-in-law,
Edmund Lambert, at that time, the most logical explanation of the
leasing arrangement is as follows. The lease was divided into two time
zones : 1.The period up to the 29th September 1580, when it was leased to
Thomas Webbe and Humphrey Hooper. 2.The twenty-one year period
from 1580 until 1601 when it was held at a peppercorn rent by George
Gibbs as agent for the Shakespeares — an arrangement confirmed by John
Lambert’s reference to the land being leased “by the demise” of John
Shakespeare. This division can only be understood in relation to the
mortgage agreement: up until the 29th September 1580, the land was
under mortgage to the Lamberts and beyond the control of the
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Shakespeares. The latter presumably let the land under lease to Webbe
and Hooper either at a full market rent, or had some agreement whereby
they could benefit from the income of the farm. The mortgaging and
leasing arrangements were structured so that if the Shakespeares were
able to redeem the mortgage in 1580, there would be no loss to them, and
incidentally no gain to the Lamberts, except for the receipt of the rent
from the lease for the period 1578-1580. If they were unable to redeem
the mortgage, then the leasing provisions would protect them during the
twenty-one year ensuing years: they would have the full income from the
farm via their peppercorn/agency arrangement with George Gibbs, in
effect a safeguard device as a contingency against not being able to
redeem the 1578 mortgage.(It should be noted that only a part of the
leased land was mortgaged to the Lamberts — what happened to the other
part is not known.)

Whether or not the mortgage was redeemed in 1580, the Lamberts
stood to gain very little. They had no access to the income from the land at
any point between 1580 and 1601; if the mortgage had been redeemed in
1580, they would have gained nothing — except for the receipt of the rent
on the leased land for the two years 1578-1580. In the event, they re-sold
the land for the same price as they paid for it twenty-one years after they
had acquired title in 1580, although with a very small profit by retaining
five acres. All the evidence points to the original mortgage arrangement
of 1578 being an act of generosity on the part of Edmund Lambert,
designed to help his brother-in-law at a time of difficulty, and this is
confirmed by the loan he made (with his fellow brother-in-law, Edward
Cornwell/Cornishe) via Roger Sadler in the same year.

What does all this tell us about the conduct and character of John
Shakespeare? We are forced to conclude from the evidence that he
consistently lied in court about the facts of the case, and was ruthlessly
prepared to exploit any weaknesses or possibilities for economic gain. To
use his own words, he shewed “scheming and fraudulent intent craftily
and cunningly to deceive and defraud” — but the language should be
applied to his own conduct, not that of his Lambert relatives. It is
presumably because of this that Mary Shakespeare’s name was dropped
at one stage from the case launched against John Lambert in 1597 13— her
sister had been married to Edmund Lambert, and this must have put
great strains on family loyalties. We can perhaps see the characters of
John Shakespeare and John Lambert respectively in the language that
they use in ending their submissions: John Shakespeare — “and your
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sayde oratours shall daylie praye to God for the prosperous healthe of
your good lordshippe with increase of honour longe to contynewe’”; John
Lambert — “All which matters this defendante is reddy to averre and
prove, as this honorable courte shall awarde, and prayethe to be
dismissed therhence with his reasonable costs and charges in this
wrongfull sute by him unjustly sustyeyned.”!4 One was the language of
flattery and deceit; the other of simplicity and straightforwardness.

John Shakespeare’s tactics in dealing with the case can perhaps best be
explained by his economic circumstances. In 1588 when he lodged his first
bill of complaint, he was near to a point of bankruptcy; Edmund Lambert
had just died, and presumably given the complexity of the legal
transactions associated with the land, he perhaps felt that he could exploit
any uncertainties of title to extract more money from the new heir to the
Lambert estate. By 1597 he had returned to prosperity: when he applied
for a new coat of arms in 1596, he was said to be worth £500 (this was
almost certainly, as we shall see, the result of his son’s financial success),
and he could now afford to invoke the original mortgage agreement and
offer the £40 redemption payment. As John Lambert pointed out, he had
a particular incentive to do this as the favourable lease on the land was
soon to fall in.

With some confidence, we can now rule out the arguments of Fripp,
and Mutschmann & Wentersdorf, about Shakespeare’s father suffering
economically as a result of religious recusancy; not only is there no direct
evidence for this, but the contention put forward by these writers that
John Shakespeare had been cheated out of money and property
transferred for safekeeping to relatives, such as the Lamberts, collapses
completely. We must therefore look elsewhere for the explanation of
John Shakespeare’s fall.

* * *

The problems that beset John Shakespeare in the period after 1577
were not confined to economic difficulties and disputes over land
ownership. He became embroiled in a number of quarrels and legal
entanglements, which have been very succinctly summarized by Schoen-
baum :

“Troubles multiplied. In Trinity term, 1580, John was fined £20 [£2,800] for
not appearing in the court of Queen’s Bench to find security for keeping the
Queen’s peace. (At this time the Crown similarly penalized many others,
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more than 140 throughout England, with fines of £10 to £200; why is not
known.) The same court also fined him another £20 as pledge for a
hatmaker of Nottingham [John Audley] who had failed his day to produce
surety for good behaviour . . . Evidently John Shakespeare did not always
judge well the character of those for whom he vouched. Thus the £10
[£1,400] bail he stood for Michael Price, [a] felonious Stratford tinker, was
forfeited. So too was his bond for £10 of a debt of £22 [£3,080] incurred by
his brother Henry. On that occasion a suit followed; to escape jail John
turned to his friend Alderman Hill for bail, and even swore out a writ of
habeas corpus to transfer the case to another court ... Adversaries, as well
as adversities, oppressed him. In the summer of 1582 he petitioned for
sureties of peace against four men — Ralph Cawdrey, William Russell,
Thomas Logginge, and Robert Young - ‘for fear of death and mutilation of
his limbs’.”’15
Little is known of these friends and associates of John Shakespeare’s;
John Audley had been fined £10 as a pledge for Shakespeare senior, as
had the third member of this circle, Thomas Cooley of Stoke,
Staffordshire!® — and whatever the nature of the original crime, it was
clearly very serious involving a breach of the Queen’s peace, and
incurring a very heavy fine. Michael Price, the tinker, was a near
neighbour of John Shakespeare’s, but not a great deal is known about
him, as is the case with Ralph Cawdrey, William Russell, Thomas
Logginge, and Robert Young. More is known about Henry Shakepeare,
John Shakespeare’s brother, and again we can do no better than quote
from Schoenbaum for a summary:
“Henry Shakespeare . . . held land in the Hales manor [Snitterfield], but he
also farmed at Ingon in the nearby parish of Hampton Lucy . . . Henry was
something of a ne’er-do- well. He got into a fray with one Edward Cornwell
(he became the second husband of the poet’s Aunt Margaret), drew blood,
and was fined, but did not show up in court to answer the charge. He was
imprisoned for trespass; he incurred debts and failed to honour them. On
one occasion Henry refused to pay his tithe — there was a quarrel between
claimants — and for a time suffered excommunication. The authorities fined
him for wearing a hat instead of a cap to church: maybe a principle was

involved, for many, especially Puritans, resented the Statute of Caps,
promulgated to encourage the depressed craft of cappers.”17

It is a somewhat misleading to call Henry Shakespeare a “ne’er-do-
well”; John Shakespeare’s chequered history after 1577 reads in similar
vein to that of his brother, and generally the Stratford records for the
period are littered with references to drunken affrays, fights and personal
disputes. 18 Elizabethan society varied so much from our own that we
must be wary of applying our own standards of reference, to what in effect
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was a very different culture. References to dunghills, unmade and pitted
roads covered with offal and the remains of slaughtered animals,
chickens, pigs and cattle roaming unchecked in the streets, drunken
brawls between men wearing knives, daggers and swords — it is easy for
the reader of the Stratford documents to believe he has inadvertently
stumbled into the “Wild West” — a raw, physical, and violent world.?®
The Stratford Corporation did of course try to control and regulate such
excesses, and the records bear out the persistent struggle to subdue these
breaches of the puritan code, destined inevitably to fail. The tension and
contrast between the puritan style of the corporation and the way of life of
the ordinary inhabitants of Stratford was very marked, but this is to
anticipate a later argument.




CHAPTER 5:
JOHN SHAKESPEARE AS FALSTAFF

A point has now been reached when we must look to William
Shakespeare for help in unravelling the enigma of his father. The first clue
lies in the list of people not attending church in 1592:

Mr John Wheeler

John Wheeler, his son

Mr John Shakespeare r e

Mr Nicholas Barnhurst e s said that these
Thomas James, alias Giles hurch for f £
William Baynton rocess for dobL 1
Richard Harrington process for debt.
William Fluellen

George Bardolfe

The last two names are familiar —- Bardolfe a character out of Henry IV,
Henry V, and The Merry Wives Of Windsor — and Fluellen a soldier in
Henry V. In a supplementary list of recusants for 1592, the name of Court
appears — he was also a character out of Henry V.2 It has been generally
recognized by Shakespeare historians that these are the most auto-
biographical of Shakespeare’s plays. This is particularly the case with The
Merry Wives Of Windsor, where the names of Herne, Horne, Brome,
Ford, Page, Poins, Peto, Bardolfe and Fenton appear —and these were all
people resident in Stratford during Shakespeare’s youth.3 Given that the
town only had a population of approximately 1,750 people (about 390
families), this is a most remarkable concentration of local names in o